ABSTRACT

Belief in jinn (sing. jinni) exerts a profound influence on the general attitude and daily behavior of members of traditional Arab and most other Muslim communities. This belief exists on two planes: religion and folklore. On the religious plane the belief is standardized by the Quran and hadith 'traditional sayings of prophet Muhammad.' On the folk level the belief is highly variable, differing from one community to another.

The jinn were more or less venerated by the pagan Arabs.

Islam accepted the existence of jinn but reduced them to mere invisible beings who could be appeased by means of sacred words. This paper examines the position of jinn in the Arab world view before and after Islam. Then the paper shows how belief in jinn in Central Arabia serves to validate cultural norms and to curb and explain deviant behavior.

NORTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY

THE POSITION OF JINN IN THE ARAB WORLD VIEW

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE

MASTER OF ARTS

DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROPOLOGY

BY
SAAD ABDULLAH SOWAYAN

DEKALB, ILLINOIS

JANUARY, 1974

ABSTRACT

Name: Saad Abdullah Sowayan

Department: Anthropology

Title: The Position of Jinn in the Arab World View

Major: Anthropology

Degree: Master of Arts

Approved by:

Date:

Director of the Perer

2 November 1973

In accordance with department and Graduate School Certification: policies, this thesis is accepted in partial fulfillment of degree requirements.

2 November 1973 Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank the members of my thesis committee, Dr. M.

Jamil Hanifi, Dr. Dolores Gunnerson, and Dr. Charles Lange for their help and encouragement in the preparation of this thesis. Mr. Matt Salo read a short version of this thesis and offered helpful suggestions. I am greatly appreciative of the editorial comments offered by Dr. Stephen Holtzman.

I owe a special debt of gratitude to Dr. William Hutchins, who contributed liberally of his time in reading and discussing the drafts of this manuscript.

The academic assistance and emotional support given me by my mentor and guide, Dr. M. Jamil Hanifi, facilitated the completion of this thesis by the deadline.

A NOTE ON TRANSLITERATION AND CITATION

This is a list of the symbols which will be used throughout this paper to represent Arabic sounds along with an approximate description of each sound. This note is excerpted from A. F. L. Beeston's The Arabic Language Today with slight modifications to suit the purpose at hand.

- (i) Bilabials, with obstruction between the two lips:
 - b, voiced stop;
 - m, _o voiced nasalized stop;
- (ii) labio-dental, between lower lip and upper teeth:
 - f, unvoiced continuant;
- (iii) linguals, of which the tongue-tip is the lower member, and subdivided according to the upper member into:
 - (a) dentals, back of the upper teeth:
 - t, unvoiced stop;
 - d, > voiced stop;
 - th, unvoiced continuant as English 'th' in 'thing';
 - dh, > voiced continuant as English 'th' in 'that';
 - voiced lateralized semi-continuant, the center of the tongue being in full closure, but the breath allowed to escape at the sides;
 - (b) dental-alveolars, at the base of the upper teeth:

- s, Unvoiced continuant hiss;
- z, voiced continuant buzz;
- (c) alveolars, on the gum-ridge behind the teeth:
- sh, unvoiced continuant with retroflexion of tonguetip similar to English 'sh';
- n, voiced masalized stop;
- voiced trill, with the tongue repeatedly tapped against the gum ridge as in Spanish 'r';
- (d) velarized alveolars, a variety of t s z and d with the tongue-tip further back and with the concurrent phenomenon of <u>litbag</u>, which is a buccal resonance caused by raising the back part of the tongue towards the soft palate:
- t, b unvoiced stop;
- s, o unvoiced continuant;
- z, 📩 voiced continuant;
- d, () voiced stop or continuant;
- (iv) palatals, between the center of the tongue and the upper palate:

- (vi) uvular, with point of obstruction further back than with the velars:
 - q, "unvoiced stop;
- (vii) pharyngals, with obstruction of the pharyngal passage:
 - h, unvoiced continuant;
 - 3, 5 voiced continuant;
- (viii) glottals, articulated in the glottis:
 - h, ounvoiced continuant, fairly similar to English th;
 - ?, f unvoiced stop; it is called by the Arabs hamzah (Beeston 1970:16-23).

It should also be noted that a macron (") placed over a vowel sound indicates that it is a long vowel.

Arabic names prefixed by the article "al" are entered into the bibliography by the next element of the word. When a transliterated Arabic word that begins by 3 or ? occurs at the beginning of the sentence, the letter immediately following 3 or ? will be capitalized. The same procedure will be followed in regard to Arabic proper names. In case of Quranic citation, the number of surah 'chapter' will be indicated by lower case Roman numerals followed by the number of ayah 'verse' in Arabic numerals. In other citations, the capitalized Roman numerals indicate the volume number and Arabic numerals indicate the page number.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A NO	TE (ON TRANSLITERATION AND CITATION
Chap	oter	
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	2.	PREFATORY DISCUSSION
		Mala?ikah
		Ins
		Jinn
	3.	CLASSES OF JINN
		Marid
		Ifrīt
		Shalitan
		Ghul
		Si3lat
		Shiq
		Nisnas
		Ghaddar
	4.	JINN IN PRE-ISLAMIC ARABIA
	5.	JINN IN ISLAM
	6.	IBLĪS: HIS RELATION TO THE JINN AND HIS ANIMOSITY TOWARD ADAM
	7.	BELIEF IN JINN AMONG THE PEOPLE OF CENTRAL ARABIA 3
		General Nature of the Jinn

	Vili
Chapter	
Prophylactic Measures Against Jinn	. 42
Beneficial Relations Between Jinn and Humans	. 46
8. DISCUSSION	. 53
APPENDIX	. 59
REFERENCES	• 70
BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 71

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

Jinn occupy a critical slot in the world view of the people of Central Arabia. Belief in Jinn has a great deal of effect on the traditional Arab personality.

Apart from the direct prohibition of certain things, the belief in jinns constantly tends to create a sense of carefulness, of circumspection, in individuals; in a roundabout way it works to produce self-discipline and at the same time propriety in behavior, both desirable qualities in members of society. This will epitomize the effect; a scholar, instead of avoiding jinns, may actually summon one and obtain from him a gift of hairs from the jinn's head, each of which on being burned will summon the jinn once more to execute a command; but the man who does this takes his life in his hands, and must be completely good and pious, saying regular prayers, fasting properly in Ramadan, never drinking alcohol, nor being unfaithful to his wife, lying, stealing, or doing any kind of wrong (Howells 1948:209-10).

It is essential, especially for people involved in mental health and social work in the Arab world, to understand the nature and doings of the jinn and their relations with human beings. This paper, I hope, is the first step towards the neglected task of elucidating this subject.

Between jinn and human beings there exist relations of opposition and correlation. The relation of opposition helps the native mind to be cognizant of the fact that jinn and humans are two classes of beings independent of and different from each other. The relation of correlation makes it easy for the native mind to conceive how a member

of one of these two distinct classes of beings could be transformed into a member of the other class. This relation of correlation facilitates contact between jinn and human beings. This contact is not only extensive and prevalent, but it is also real and tangible. Sometimes they are friendly toward each other and sometimes they are hostile. Sometimes they fall in love with each other and intermarry. Some human groups are even considered by others to be jinn rather than human beings. Donald P. Cole, who did extensive field work among al-Murrah tribe in Saudi Arabia, wrote me:

The Al Murrah, as you must know, inhabit the Rub al Khali, a marginal region, and they have very special skills and know things that ordinary [humans] don't know. They can track thieves and know where to find water. And the Rub al Khali, and its many gusur (ruins), are obvious places for jinn. Thus, the Al Murrah are sometimes considered to be more jinn than [humans]. If they are jinn, then they are certainly very pleasant and kind beings (Cole 1973: personal communication).

The Arabs, and Muslims in general, believe in three different classes of created, intelligent and responsible beings: (1) mala?ikah 'angels,' (2) ins 'human beings,' and (3) jinn. The second chapter of this paper is a philological and etymological discussion of these three classifications. The nature and attributes of beings in each of these classes will also be discussed in that chapter. The third chapter is a philological and etymological discussion of the classes of jinn mentioned in the Quran and the diabolic bestial beings mentioned by the Arab poets and travelers.

The fourth chapter is a composite picture of the belief in jinn in pagan Arabia. Special reference will be made to the specialists who

had the supernatural power to communicate with the jinn.

"Jinn in Islam" is the title of the fifth chapter which discusses the status of jinn in Islamic thought.

Iblis (the devil?) is a controversial character in Islamic cosmogony. Some theologians believe that he is a jinni while others believe he is a fallen angel. The pros and cons of this argument will be presented in Chapter 6. Settlement of this dispute regarding the origin of Iblis, who managed to deceive Adam and have him expelled from Paradise, is relevant to the discussion presented in this paper. If Iblis was a jinni, then this means that jinn are potentially evil. This chapter also, indirectly, shows that the line which separates jinn from the angels is a rather fuzzy one.

Chapter 7 is an ethnographic account of belief in jinn on the folk level in contemporary Central Arabia. The material for this chapter was obtained during my stay in Onieza, Saudi Arabia during the summer months of 1971. From June to September 1971, I interviewed people and collected folk tales relevant to my topic. I should like to emphasize that I am a native of Onieza, which means I speak their language, Arabic; their native categories are my categories, and I have the intuition of a native except that my native intuition is tempered with a little scientific theorizing.

The last chapter is a discussion of the position of jinn in the world view of the people of Central Arabia and the relationships that exist between jinn and human beings.

The appendix at the end of this paper contains a sample of

eight folk tales I translated. Some of these folk tales were related to me by friends and relatives; some I translated from Abdulkarīm al-Juhaīman's work (1967-1970).

Chapter 2

PREFATORY DISCUSSION

The Arabs, and Muslims in general, believe in three different classes of created intelligent beings who, unlike <u>bahā?im</u> 'lower animals,' are responsible, are obligated to observe the precepts of religion, and will be rewarded accordingly in the next life. These are

(1) <u>malā?ikah</u> 'angels,' who are created of light, (2) <u>ins</u> 'human beings,' who are created of clay, and (3) jinn, who are created from smokeless fire.

Mala?ikah

Mala?ikah (sing. malak) derives from la?ak 'to send as a messenger' and malak means an angel or a messenger (Wehr 1971:852).

Mala?ikah are the messengers of God (Quran xxxv:1). They reside in the heavens above. They are of simple substance, being created of light, and capable of assuming any shape or form they want (Mu3jam 1970 I:55). They have wings and fly (al-Jahiz 1938 III:231-5). They do not propagate their species, not being males or females (al-Damīrī 1861 I:290). The submission and obedience of the angels to Allah (Quran xxi:19-20; ixvi:6) is due to their 3ismah; that is, they are impeccable and free of sin except three fallen angels: Harūt, Marūt, and Iblīs.

Harut and Marut yielded to temptations and God cast them in a pit near Babylon to teach magic to people (Quran ii: 102; Ibn Kathīr

1966:48). Iblis refused to prostrate himself before Adam after God had created Adam from clay and breathed His spirit into him. Therefore, Iblis was banished from the heavens and was cursed, but he begged postponement of his punishment until the day of judgment. God granted him this request as well as the power to lead astray all those who are not true servants of God (Quran xv:26-42). Iblis will prove to be a controversial entity and more will be said about him later.

Angels are created in different forms and with different powers (al-Qazwini 1849:55-63). They are hierarchically arranged according to the tasks they perform (Ibn Kathir 1966:43). Jibril is the angel of revelation and God's deputy to his prophets. He is described as a strong giant but beautiful and with extremely good manners (Ibid.:43). He used to come to Muhammad in many forms (Ibid. 40-1) and Muhammad saw him in his real form only twice; he had six hundred wings and each wing covered the horizon (Ibid.:44). He used to come to Muhammad every night in Ramadan to study the Quran with him and sometimes they prayed together (Ibid.:45).

Israfil is the angel with the trumpet of resurrection. He blows the trumpet three times. The first is nafkhat al-faz3 'the terrifying blow,' followed by nafkhat al-sa3q 'the stunning blow,' and finally nafkhat al ba3th 'the blow of resurrection.' All human souls are deposited in Israfil's trumpet. When he sounds the blow of resurrection, all these souls come out glowing, and God sends every soul to its former body (Tbid.:45). After the second blow everything except God dies including Israfil, who is the first to be resurrected by God to

blow the third blow, the blow of resurrection (Ibid.:46). Isrāfīl was the first angel to prostrate himself to Adam (Ibid.:46). Mīkā?īl is an angel of the same rank as Jibrīl. He is the angel of rain and vegetation and has helpers who direct the wind and drive clouds. Every drop of rain that descends to earth has an angel who decides where it should fall (Ibid.:46). 3Izrā?īl is the angel of death. He has helpers who come to a person in the form concordant to his deeds; if he is a believer, sweet-smelling white angels with white robes come to take his soul, and the opposite if he is a nonbeliever (Ibid.:47).

Hamalat al 3Arsh are the angels who carry the Throne of God (al-QazwIni 1849:55). Al Kurubiyun are the angels around the throne. These angels are also called al-muqarrabun 'the ones close to Allah.'

Jibril and Mika?il are the most honorable of al-Muqarrabun (Ibn Kathir 1966:49). These angels are of pure nature and they exhibit a great sentiment towards those human beings who are also of pure nature. They incessantly plead with God to forgive these people (Ibid.:49). Al-Hafazah are the angels who protect al-Lawh al-Mahfuz 'the preserved tablet,' on which is written the original text of the Quran to guard it from corruption and to ensure the eternal endurance of God's message (Quran xv:9; lxxv:21-2). Sukkān al-samawāt al-sab3 'the inhabitants of the seventh heaven' are engaged in constant prayers to God (Ibn Kathir 1966:49). Al-Khazanah are the angels to whom is delegated the responsibility of preparing paradise for the believers (Ibid.:50). Al-Zabāniyah are the angels guarding hell (Ibid.:50).

The biggest of all angels is al-Ruh, who is as big as the

whole universe and resides in the fourth heaven. He is said to glorify the Lord twelve thousand times a day and out of each and every glorification God creates another angel (Ibid.:43). There is another angel who could swallow the heavens and the earth in a single bite if Allah commanded him to do it. One of the angels carrying the Lord's throne is so gigantic the distance between his ear and his shoulder is seven hundred years' journey (Ibid.:43).

The angels are sinless because they are sanctified from carnal desires and the disturbance of anger (al-Qazwīnī 1849:55). Every spot in the seven heavens is busy with angels worshipping God (Ibn Kathīr 1966:42). It is said that when the imām, one who leads the prayers among the Muslims, says "amen," the angels in heaven say "amen" after him and any human who says "amen" after the imām at the same time as the angels will be forgiven all his past sins. This is the reason that collective prayers surpass individual prayers (Ibid.:53). The angels never disobey God's commands. Their nourishment is the celebration of His glory, their drink is the proclamation of His Holiness, their speech is the commemoration of Him, and their pleasure is His worship (al-Qazwīnī 1849:55).

Every human being is attended by two guardian angels, one in front of him and one behind him (Ibn Kathir 1966:52) as well as two recording angels, one to the left to record the bad deeds and one to the right to record the good deeds (Quran lxxxii:10-2). These angels never depart from a man except when he is in the bathroom or in a state of janabah (ritual uncleanness resulting from sexual intercourse,

which can only be removed by taking a bath preceded by the recitation of the name of Allah with the intention 'niyah' of purification from janabah). One is supposed to honor these angels and not embarrass them by obligating them to note down disgraceful actions such as running around naked or defecating in public (Ibn Kathīr 1966:51). These angels never enter a house that has in it a picture, an image, a dog, or somebody in a state of janabah (Ibid.:51). Every human being has a qarīn 'double' of the angels who advises him to do good and a qarīn of the shayatīn 'evil jinn' who tries to lead him astray (Ibid.:52).

Munkar and Nakīr are the two angels who visit the dead in the grave immediately after burial and catechize him as to his faith (al-Qazwīnī 1849:60).

There is a controversy as to whether the majority of mankind are more excellent than the majority of angels or vice versa. Some Muslim theologians take the view that the majority of mankind are more excellent than the majority of angels. This is because God created Adam with His own hand and gave him life by breathing His own spirit into him. Furthermore, after Adam was completed, God commanded all angels to prostrate themselves in front of Him (Quran ii:34; vii:11; xv:28-31; xvii:61; xviii:50; xx:116; xxxviii:71-4). However, the Mu3tazilah and the Ash3ariyah (two early theological schools which encouraged free and speculative thinking in Islam) believed in the superior excellence of the angels. They argued that the angels were kā?ināt ruḥaniyah 'spiritual beings' and that they were free of even the beginnings of evils and defects, like lust and anger, and from the

obscurities of form and matter (Encyclopaedia of Islam 1953:320).

A human being who is outstandingly beautiful in appearance and pure in character is called an angel (Quran xii:31).

Ins

Ins (sing. insi) are also called has or unas (sing. insan). This term refers to mankind and humanity in general. The root word anisa means: 'was or became cheered, happy, gladdened, or pleased because of the company, presence, or conversation of someone. This is contrary to istawhasha, meaning 'to shrink from or become averse to someone. When we say fulan anasa fulan, we are saying that a person behaved in a sociable, friendly, familiar, or amicable manner toward another person, with the intention of cheering him up or gladdening him by his company, presence, or conversation. The word uns denotes sociability, companionship, conversableness, delightfulness, joyfulness, cheerfulness, gaiety, gladsomeness, happiness, amicableness, ease and tranquility. It is the contrary of wahshah 'shrinking or aversion' Anis is a person or a thing one is used to or (Lane 1968:112-5). familiar with or by whose company or presence one is cheered, solaced, or consoled. For a man traveling alone in the desert at night, fire is ma?nusah, because it is a sign of food and company, thus cheerful-Makan ma?nus is a place of alighting where there is uns. Mu?nisat are the weapons men carry because they assure their possessor of safety and thus they solace him and cheer him up and render him at ease with his adversaries (Ibid .: 115). Mu?nis is Thursday because on that day the Arabs were inclined to frequent places of pleasure

(Ibid.:115).

A synonym of <u>anisa</u> is <u>ista?nasa</u> which could also refer to a wild animal which became domesticated or tamed. <u>Ista?nasa</u> may also mean 'to examine or to inquire' (Mu3jam 1970 I:63).

Besides the previous meanings listed for anasa, this word may also mean 'to see, to perceive, to know, or to become cognizant of' (Ibid. I:63). Therefore, human beings are called ins, nas, or unas because they are seen 'yu?nasun,' unlike the jinn who are concealed from our senses 'mujtannun' (Lane 1968:1114). However, some philologists (namely those of al-Kufah) disagree with this etymology and insist that the word insan is originally pronouned insiyan which comes from al-nisyan 'forgetfulness' and it was contracted to make it easier to pronounce since it is frequently used (al-Damiri 1861 I:45-6). This is in reference to Adam's forgetfulness of God's covenant "we have already, beforehand, taken the covenant of Adam, but he forgot 'nasiya'" (Quran xx:15).

Human beings are also called bani Adam 'the progeny of Adam' and bashar. The verb bashara means 'to pare a hide,' thus removing its hair or wool, and basharah is the outer skin upon which hair grows. Human beings are referred to as bashar because their basharah is bare of hair and of wool (Lane 1968:112-5). From this comes the verb bashara meaning 'the man was in, or came into, contact with the woman, skin to skin' (Mu3jam 1970 I:101).

Jinn

The main signification of the word jinn (sing. jinni), also

called jinnah and jann, is veiling or concealing from the senses (Mu3jam 1970 I:223-4). Janīn is the foetus or embryo because it is concealed in the mother's womb. Jannah is paradise (the abode of recompense), so called because the various delights prepared therein for mankind are concealed from him in his present state of existence (Lane 1968:463). Janan is the grave because it conceals the dead body. Junnah is the armour with which one protects himself and mijann is the shield (Ibid.:464). Jinān is the heart because the chest conceals it. Lā junna bihadhā al-amr is an expression meaning there is no concealment with this matter, it is clear (Ibid.:463). Junna-l-laīl means the night became confusingly dark and concealed things from the sight of man. Jinn may also mean the prime of things (i.e., the prime of youth) or the first or fresh state of the matter (Ibid.:463).

In this discussion, jinn refers mainly to intelligent demoniacal beings who share some common characteristics with the angels and some common characteristics with human beings, but they are in a separate class independent from both angels and human beings. Muslim theologians and writers describe the Jinn as beings of aerial quality whose bodies are transparent and can assume various forms. They are capable of carrying out heavy tasks. They are usually imperceptible and concealed from our senses but when their form becomes condensed they are visible. They become invisible at pleasure, or suddenly disappear in the earth or air, or through a solid wall. They pervade the solid matter of the earth as well as the firmament (al-Qazwīnī 1849: 368; al-Damīrī 1861 I:282; al-Razī 1934-1962 I:76). They are created

from smokeless fire: "We have created men from resonant clay, from mud moulded into shape. And the jinn race we have created, beforehand, from the flame of a scorching wind" (Quran xv:26-8).

A clever man who is effective in affairs or one who seems to be doing different things or appearing at different places at the same time is likened to a jinni. A woman lover who is beautiful but who is changeable and whimsical is likened to a jinniyah (Lane 1968:463).

Junun is the state of madness and majnun is the one whom a jinni enters, concealing from him reason and intellect, that is, making him lunatic, mad, insane, bereft of reason, or unsound in mind or intellect (Mu3jam 1970 I:223). Junun could also mean excessive exultation or excitement to mirth (Lane 1968:462-3). A thing is called jinan when it is so striking or enchanting it causes one to lose his mind. Nabat majnun is tangled, dense and luxuriant herbage (Ibid.:464).

Chapter 3

CLASSES OF JINN

There are different classes of jinn. Jinn who enchant humans with their eyes are called Khabal (al-Jahiz 1938 VI:195). Thus makhbul means lunatic. A jinni who resides amongst people is called 3\overline{Amir} (Tbid.:190). Those who enchant children are called arwah (Ibid.: 190). Black dogs are called jinn and spotted dogs are called himn. Hinn refers also to the least powerful class of jinn (Ibid.I:191). Shaitan is an infidel, wicked, and evil jinni; and if he is capable of carrying out heavy labor, he is marid. Next in the hierarchy comes ifrit. The most powerful and able of all is 3abqari 'genius' (Ibid.I:291; VI:190).

The Quran mentions three classes of jinn: marid, ifrit and shaitan. These are highly connotative and highly ambiguous terms that lend themselves to a wide variety of metaphorical uses. They are overlapping categories and none of them has a real specific definition.

Marid

The verb <u>marada</u> means 'he practiced and excelled in wickedness' (Mu3jam 1970 II:623; Quran ix:101). <u>Marīd</u> 'rebellious' is one who practices evil with arrogance and persistence (Mu3jam 1970 II:623).

<u>Marid</u> 'rebel' is one who exalts himself, or is insolent and audacious, in pride and in acts of rebellion, disobedience, or infidelity; or one

who is immodest, inordinate, excessive, extravagant or exorbitant in pride, rebellion, corruption, disobedience, infidelity or wrongdoing; or, one who is refractory or averse to obedience (Lane 1968:2706-7; Quran iv:117; xxi:3).

Ifrīt

(Pl. 3afarīt). The word ifrīt is derived from 3affara, 'to sieze one's opponent, drag him, shake him, cast him upon the ground, and defile him with dust and dirt' (Mu3jam 1970 II:228; Lane 1968:3089). Thus, Ifrīt is one who overcomes his antagonist and rolls him in the dust or one who is powerful in a hostile sense (Yver 1927:455). The main signification of ifrīt is a sharp, vigorous and effective jinmi, who excels the ordinary bounds in craftiness and cunning (Quran xxvii: 38-9). In the Mu3jam (1970 II:228) ifrīt is defined as the most powerful jinni. In Islam the word became identified with the more satanic and malignant elements of the jimn, but it was not understood as meaning a special class of them (Yver 1927:455). A strong man of violence is also called ifrīt.

Shaitan

(Pl. shayatin). The verb shatana means 'he was or became distant or remote' (Lane 1968:1551-2). The devil is called shaitan because he is distant and remote from the truth and the mercy of God (Ibid.:1552). Shaitan is a wicked being that is never seen but always instigating evil and wickedness (Mu3jam 1970 II:20). Every recalcitrant and refractory animal, human being, or jinni is called shaitan.

The sense of shaitan as a superhuman being has its roots in Arab paganism and it was believed that every sha3ir 'poet' was attended by a shaitan who inspired his words (more on this point in the next chapter). In Islam shaitan came to mean the devil that opposes God in the hearts of men and whispers his insidious suggestions in their ears, making his proposals seductive to them (Quran vi:71; lix:15-7). Some authorities believe that shayatin are the evil jinn, while other authorities are of the opinion that shayatin are a species different from the jinn just as ins and mala?ikah are different from them, and that shayatin are all evil and will go to hell (al-Dimiri 1861 I:290, 293; Ibn Kathir 1966:57; al-Razi 1934-1962 I:76, 78, 82).

In the solitary desert of Arabia, poets and travelers of both early and modern times claim to have seen and come in contact with bestial beings which were diabolical 'mutashaitinah' and often cannibalistic. These beings were thought to be of the jinn, but do not belong to the same system of ideas as the marid, ifrit, and shaitan. They possess solid bodies but their forms are changeable. They talk like humans and play audio-visual tricks on lonely travelers in the solitary desert. Among these are ghul, si3lat, shiq, misnas, and ghaddar.

Ghul

(Pl. aghwal and ghilan) from ghala, 'to seize unaware, to destroy, to murder, or to assassinate' (Wehr 1971:688). Gha?ilah means 'calamity, disaster, ruin, havoc, or danger' (Ibid.:688).

Taghawul is the change in form, appearance, state, or condition (Lane

1968:2310). Ghawl is a land far extending, though to the eye seeming of little extent (Ibid : 2310). In the root ghala seem to lie two ideas: (1) treacherously assailing and destroying, (2) changing into different To medieval writers ghul 'ogre?' is a diabolical and appearances. hostile variety of the jinn that appears to travelers in various forms to allure them from their path, fall upon them unaware, and destroy and devour them. It is unknown whether ghul is male or female but often it is mentioned as a female (al-Jahiz 1938 VI:158) who appears to travelers at night. They follow her thinking that she is one of them whereupon she leads them astray (al-Mas3udi 1966a:289). A ghul can assume any form she chooses except for her feet which are always hoofs (al-Jahiz 1938 VI:114; al-Mas3udi 1966a:289; al-Damiri 1861 II: 265). At night the ghul lights fire for sport and to deceive and mislead wayfarers (al-Damīrī 1861 II:265; al-Jaḥiz 1938 V:123). One blow would kill a ghul but the second would bring her back to life (al-Jahiz 1938 VI:223).

It is believed that nature did not perfect the shape of the ghul and she came out ugly in appearance and anomalous. As a result she did not become social 'lam tasta?nis' but led a solitary existence 'istawhashat' (al-Mas3udī 1966a:189-291; al-Qazwīnī 1849:370).

Si3lat

The <u>si3lat</u> (pl. <u>sa3ali</u>) is a female goblin who is referred to as <u>sahirah</u> 'sorceress, enchantress' of the jinn because of her ability to transform herself as she wishes (MacDonald 1927:165). She hides in thickets and jungles waiting for travelers, and when she seizes a man

she makes him dance and plays with him as a cat plays with a mouse (al-Qazwini 1849:370), until he becomes dizzy and falls down. Then she sucks his blood (al-Mas3udi 1966b:35). The wolf may catch a si3lat at night. Then she cries for help promising one hundred dinars to her rescuer, but nobody rescues her and the wolf devours her (al-Damīrī 1861 II:30; al-Qazwīnī 1849:370-1).

The 3Amr ibn yarbu3 clan of the Bank Tamim tribe are also called Banu-s-Si3lat and claim to be the descendants of a si3lat who was married to their father but disappeared suddenly on seeing a flash of lightning in the country of al-Sa3alk (Smith 1966:240; al-Jahiz 1938 I:185-6; VI:161).

A very clamorous woman who is foul in tongue, evil in disposition, and ugly in appearance is called <u>si3lat</u> (al-Damīrī 1861 II:27). But al-Jaḥiz (1938 VI:160), on the contrary, says a woman who is sharp in sight and intellect, quick and graceful in movements, slender, and not flabby is called <u>si3lat</u>.

Shiq

The shiq has the form of half a human being and appears to travelers in the desert (al-Qazwini 1848:371; al-Jahiz 1938 I:189; VI: 206; VII:187; al-Mas3ūdi 1966a:296). It is related by al-Qazwini (1849:371) that 3Alqamah ibn Ṣafwan ibn Umayah met a shiq in a place called Hawman (Hazman in al-Mas3ūdi 1966a:296, but also Harman in footnote number 4 on the same page) and the two had a duel in which they both perished (see also al-Mas3ūdi 1966a:296).

Nisnās

A mismas is believed to be the offspring of a shiq and of a human being (al-Jahiz 1938 I:189; al-Mas3udi 1966b:38; al-Qazwini 1849: The nismas has only one hand and one foot, but he jumps with much agility and runs very fast (al-Mas3udi 1966b:38). These beings are eaten by humans. Al-Mas3udi (Ibid.: 38) tells the story of a company of travelers who alighted in a place full of nasanis, caught one of them, killed it, and cooked it. When they sat down to eat it, one of the travelers exclaimed, "This is really a fat misnas!" A misnas who was hiding in a nearby tree said, "It was a fat nisnas because it ate worms." By saying this, the misnas called attention to itself so the travelers caught it and ate it. Another nisnas who was hiding in another tree said, "If that nisnas had been wise enough and remained silent, it would not have been eaten." That mismas was also caught and eaten by the travelers. A fourth nisnas who was hiding in a crevice below shouted, "Am I glad I did not talk!" The travelers caught it and ate it, too.

Ghaddar

The ghaddar is found in Tehama, Yemen, and upper Egypt. He may follow a man and terrify him and perform anal intercourse on him whereby the man's rectum eventually becomes infested with worms and he dies (al-Mas3udī 1966a:292).

* * * * *

It should be clear that marid, ifrit and shaitan occupy a rank and status in the Islamic universe that is never given to ghul,

si?lat, nisnas, shiq, and ghaddar, which puts them in an altogether different category.

Chapter 4

JINN IN PRE-ISLAMIC ARABIA

The ancient Arabs regarded the jinn as constituting nations and clans of superhuman beings inhabiting particular locales and united by bonds of kinship and by the practice of blood feud, so that the whole clan acted together in defending its haunts against intrusions or in avenging on mankind any injury done to one of its members. When Harb ibn Umayah and Mardas ibn abī 3Āmir (historical figures who lived a generation before Muhammad) set fire to a waste land with the intent to bring it under cultivation, the jinn flew away with doleful cries in the shape of white serpents and the two persons died soon afterwards. The jinn, it was believed, slew them because they had set fire to their dwelling place (Smith 1888:126-33). Certain kinds of jinn frequent certain spots. They appear in the forms of snakes, beetles and other creeping things. It is related that the Meccan clan of Sahm once suffered injuries at the hands of the jinn, and, accordingly, they marched out to a certain spot where they proceeded to kill so many snakes, lizards, beetles, etc. that the jinn were forced to sue for peace (Noldeke 1955:669). Here the creatures slain are evidently regarded as being themselves jinn.

The haunts of jinn are regarded as awful and dangerous places.

Particular jinn preside over particular places where they appear and

disappear mysteriously. It was a common practice among the early Arabs when they halted on their journey in a place of fear to say, "I seek refuge with the lord of this place '3amira-l-makan' from the mischief of his foolish ones" (al-Mas3udi 1966a:229-300). Al-Qazwini (1849:374) relates the story of a shepherd who was grazing his sheep in a valley when a wolf carried off one of his sheep; the shepherd cried "ya3amir-l-wadi 'Oh thou who presides over this valley'" and in answer to his plea, he heard a voice shouting "O wolf give back the sheep." The wolf left the sheep and went away.

Al-Shenaqnaq and al-Shaysaban were believed by the ancient Arabs to be the greatest kings of the jinn (al-Jahiz 1938 I:308). The mysterious tribe called banu-Uqaish were believed to be of the jinn; in order to scare them away, it was the custom to rattle dry skin bottles one against the other (Nöldeke 1955:670).

The jinn roam the desert riding on jerboas, hedgehogs, ostriches and gazelles. They do not ride monkeys because a monkey never bathes after sexual intercourse, nor do they ride hyenas because a hyena rides over a dead person's penis and does not bathe afterwards. Also, the jinn never ride a hare because it menstruates (al-Jahiz 1938 VI:46). This is the reason the ancient Arabs used to wear a hare's foot to ward off the jinn (Ibid.:357). The idea that the jinn do not like menstrual blood gave rise to the practice of rubbing the head of a newly born baby with the blood of <u>3aqīqah</u> 'sacrificed animal' and the gum of the acacia tree, which the Arabs believed to be its menstrual blood (Smith 1966:199).

Around the possibility of conjugal relations between mankind and the jinn, an immense literature has gathered. It was common for a jinni to fall in love with a human being of the opposite sex and enter that person's body rendering him/her possessed or mad (al-Jahiz 1965 II:371-5). Sinān ibn abī Ḥārithah al-Marrī, from banī Murrah tribe, was allegedly enchanted by the jinn and spent the rest of his life wandering (Ibid.:375). The mother of Bilqis bint dhi Mishrah, the Queen of Sheba, was a jinniyah 'female jinni' who was married to a human being. Bilqis was the offspring of this union, which explains her outstanding character (Ibid.:371). It has already been mentioned that the 3Amr ibn yarbū3 clan of the banī Tamīm tribe also are called banu-s-Si3lāt and claim to be the descendants of a si3lāt, who was married to their father, but disappeared suddenly on seeing a flash of lightning in the country of her people, al-Sa3ālī (Smith 1966:240; al-Jahiz 1938 I:185-6; VI:161).

There are many stories of travelers seeing a great multitude of people with their tents pitched in the desert and all of a sudden the whole thing disappeared (al-Jaḥiz 1938 VI:200). In Pre-Islamic Arabia appalling sights or edifices that seemed too marvelous to be the work of men (like Falmyra and the pyramids) were all thought to be the works of the jinn (Ibid.VI:186). The jinn were also connected with unexplained death and sickness. Ta3un 'the plague' was thought to be ta3n 'spearing' of jinn's spears (Ibid.I:351).

The jinn utter a peculiar sound the Arabs call <u>3azīf</u>, a word which denotes the harsh dull sound resulting from the releasing of a

bow string (Nöldeke 1955:670). A jinni who is not seen but whose voice is heard is called hatif (al-Mas3udi 1966a:295). Generally, the hatif brought early news of great events or communicated some intelligence in the way of advice, direction, or warning (al-Jaḥiz 1938 VI:202-3). A jinni who takes a liking to a human being becomes kind to him and communicates to him distant news. Every person noted for his intelligence is supposed to have a ra?ii 'seer' who reveals all manner of things to him (Nöldeke 1955:671), and hence comes ru?ya 'vision.'

The jinn had specially intimate connections with the <u>kāhin</u> and <u>Shā3ir</u> of early Arabia. The <u>kāhin</u> 'soothsayer' foretold future events and acted as judge in disputes and points of customary law '3adat.' His decision was considered a kind of divine judgment (Fischer 1927: 624-5). His knowledge was communicated to him by his familiar of the jinn called <u>tābi3</u> (al-Jaḥiz 1938 VI:225-9).

Similar to the <u>kahin</u> is the <u>sha3ir</u>. The word <u>sha3ir</u> comes from <u>sha3ara</u>, 'to feel, to know, or to become informed about or be aware of (Lane 1968:1559). <u>Sha3ir</u> is one with inspired knowledge (Krenkow 1927: 285). Later, <u>sha3ir</u> came to mean poet per se, so called because of his acumen and influence on feelings (Mu3jam 1970 II:21). The <u>sha3ir</u> of old Arabia was the oracle of his tribe who was in league with the jinn (Nicholson 1966:72-3). Each <u>sha3ir</u> had a familiar jinni called <u>shaitan</u> (al-Jahiz 1938 VI:229). Like the <u>tabi3</u> of <u>kahin</u>, the <u>shaitan</u> of sha3ir inspired him and revealed to him future events.

The mantic knowledge of the sha3ir and the kahin was based on ecstatic inspiration and chanted in the form of saj3 'terse sentences

in rhythmic prose, with single or more rarely alternating rhyme'
(Fischer 1927:265) which might be the origin of Arabic poetry (Nicholson 1966:72-3).

Lower than the <u>kāhin</u> and <u>shā3ir</u>, but one who also possessed some special knowledge communicated to him by the jinn, is the <u>3arrāf</u>. A <u>3arrāf</u> interpreted dreams, found lost camels, established cases of adultery, and cleared up other crimes and misdemeanors, particularly theft and murder (MacDonald 1965:25). He was consulted as a skillful physician 'tabīb' (Ibid.:25).

Chapter 5

JINN IN ISLAM

Islam accepts the existence of jinn: "We created mankind from resonant clay from fetid mud. And the jinn We had created before from the fire of a scorching wind" (Quran xv:26-7). "He [Allah] created mankind from resonant clay like unto pottery. And He created jinn from fire free of smoke" (Ibid.iv:14-5). In a hadith, related by his wife 3A?ishah, prophet Muhammad said that angels were created from light, jinn were created from fire, and mankind was created from clay (Ibn Kathir 1966:55).

The Quran asserts that the jinn are moral beings with different religious beliefs and some will go to heaven while others will go to hell: "There are among us [jinn] some that are righteous, and some to the contrary; we follow divergent paths" (Quran lxxii:11). "Among us [jinn] are some that submit their wills [to God] and some that swerve from justice. Those who submit their wills, they have sought out [the path] of right conduct. But those who swerve they are [but] fuel for hell fire" (Ibid.:14-5). The jinn are capable of salvation and Muhammad was sent to them as well as to mankind (Ibid.xlvi:29-32; lxxii:1-5).

Sulaiman ibn Dawud 'Solomon, Son of David' had unlimited power over the jinn as well as birds, wind and wild beasts "and before Solomon we marshalled his hosts of jinn and men and birds, and they

were all kept in order and ranks" (Ibid. xxvii:17; also see xxi:81-2; xxxiv:12-3; xxviii:37-8).

At the initial stage of his mission, the Arabs called Muhammad kahin, sha3ir, and sometimes majnun, because he spoke about the past and future events in a rhymed prose that had a magical effect on them. The authenticity of his message, however, was confirmed and defended by the Quran "Do they [the Arabs] not reflect? Their companion [Muhammad] is not seized with madness, he is but a perspicuous warner" (Ibid. vii: 184). "And O [people] your companion is not majnun" (Ibid. lxxxi:22). "We [Allah] have not instructed him [Muhammad] in poetry, nor is it fit for him; this is no less than a message and Quran to make things clear" (Ibid.xxxvi:69). "This is verily the word of an honored messenger. It is not the word of a sha3ir, little it is you believe. Nor is it the word of a kahin, little admonition is it you receive. [It is] a message sent down from the Lord of the worlds" (Ibid.lxix: 40-3). As a matter of fact, Muhammad took a special stand against every kahin and sha3ir or anyone who claims knowledge of the future. "Shall I inform you on whom the shayatin descend? They descend on every lying, wicked person. [Into his ears] they pour hearsay vanities, and most of them are liars. And the shu3ara?, it is those straying in evil who follow them. Seest thou not that they wander distracted in every valley and that they say what they practice not?" (Ibid. xxvi: 221-6). Belief in the supremacy of jinn is antithetical to Islam. In Islam, God is the only supreme being and the rest, including the jinn, is His creation. The jinn, like all other creatures, are helpless and

they possess no knowledge or power except what God, by His will, grants them. To make the jinn the associates, or partners, of God in His rule and knowledge is sheer infidelity. "And they make the jinn equals with God, though God did create the jinn" (Ibid.vi:100) "True there were persons among mankind who took shelter with persons among the jinn but they [the jinn] increased them in folly" (Ibid.lxxii:6).

Muhammad ascribed the knowledge of the kahin and the sha3ir to the help of shayatin who, before the mission of Muhammad, used to ascend to heaven and hear words by stealth. The angels come down to the lowest heaven and mention the works that have been preordained by Allah. Before the mission of Muhammad, the shayatin had liberty to ascend to the confines of the heavenly regions next to earth and obtain knowledge of futurity by listening to the conversation of the angels. Now they still do that occasionally, but whoever does attempt to listen finds there a shihab 'shooting star' waiting for him. The angels hurl these darts to drive away the shayatin. "And we [jinn] pried into the secrets of heaven but we found it filled with stern guards and flaming darts. We used, indeed, to sit there in [hidden] stations to [steal] a hearing but any who listens now will find a flaming fire watching him in ambush" (Ibid.lxxii:8-9). "We [Allah] have set out the Zodiacal signs in the heavens and made them fairseeming to beholders. And we have guarded them from every accursed shaitan. But any that gains a hearing by stealth is pursued by a flaming bright dart: (Ibid.xv:16-8).

When Muhammad was asked about kahanah 'soothsayers' he said

that the shaltan snatches a word of truth from heaven and mumbles it in the ear of the kahin who mixes it with a hundred lies (Ibn Kathir 1966: 66).

Islam forbade the Arabs from worshipping the jinn (Quran vi: 100; xxxiv:40-2; xxxix:14; lxxii:6) and offering sacrifices to them (al-Damīrī 1861 I:296). In Islam, the jinn were reduced from subjects of reverence and divinity to mere invisible creatures who are sometimes abusive and hostile but could be easily appeared and controlled by means of sacred words and rites and verses from the Quran. Al-ism al-a3zam 'the most great name of Allah' and al-asma? al-husna 'the ninety nine attributes of God' along with the first chapter of the Quran and ayat al-Kursī 'the verse of the Throne' and the last three chapters of the Quran are believed to have particular efficacy against the jinn when uttered or written on charms and amulets.

Chapter 6

IBLĪS: HIS RELATION TO THE JINN AND HIS ANIMOSITY TOWARD ADAM

Iblis and his relation to the jinn is a rather confused subject. It springs from Islamic religious doctrine, albeit reflects the influence of mythological beliefs and Judaic ideas (cf. Rappoport 1966:28-88). The principal question theologians have been attempting to answer is whether Iblis is an angel who fell from the grace of God or whether he is a jinni who was deprived of the mercy of God (oblisa hence Iblis) and was transformed into the devil after refusing to prostrate himself before Adam (al-Tabarī 1968:82, 95).

We created man from resonant clay, from mud molded into shape. And the jinn race we have created before, from the fire of a scorching wind. Behold! Thy Lord said to the angels: "I am about to create man, from resonant clay, from mud molded into shape. When I have fashioned him (in due proportion) and breathed into him of my spirit, fall ye down in obeisance unto him." So the angels prostrated themselves: all of them together. Not so Iblis, he refused to be among those who prostrated themselves. [Allah] said: 'O Iblis! What is your reason for not being among those who prostrated themselves?' [Iblis] said: 'I am not one to prostrate myself to man, whom thou didst create from resonant clay, from mud molded into shape. [Allah] said: 'Then get thee out from here, for thou art rejected, accursed and the curse shall be on thee until the Day of Judgment. [Iblis] said: 'O my Lord! Give me then respite till the day the [dead] are raised.' [Allah] said: 'Respite is granted thee till the Day of the time appointed.' [Iblis] said: 'O my Lord, because thou hast put me in the wrong, I will make [wrong] fair seeming to them on the earth and I will put them all in the wrong except thy servants among them, sincere and

purified [by thy grace].' [Allah] said: 'This way [of my sincere servants] is indeed a way that leads straight to Me. For over my servants no authority shalt thou have except such as put themselves in the wrong and follow thee.' (Quran xv: 26-42).

Before the creation of Adam, the world was inhabited by twenty eight nations of different kinds including the jinn, who resembled dogs and whose speech was an incomprehensible mumble (al-Mas3ūdī 1966b: 32). When God created Sumiya?, the father of the jinn [some authorities are of the opinion that Iblīs and not Sumiya? is the father of the jinn (al-Shiblī 1903:156)], He said, "Make a wish!" Sumiya? said, "I wish that we see and not be seen, that we disappear in the ground, and that when one of us reaches a mature age he becomes a child again." God granted him all these wishes (al-Shiblī 1908:9). These jinn were employed in the constant worship and glorification of the Lord. They used to ascend to heaven to meet with the angels and discuss heavenly matters with them (al-Mas3ūdī 1966b:33).

Later, a faction of these jinn rebelled and defied the commands of the Lord and committed outrageous atrocities on earth. They shed blood, manifested corruption, and denied the divinity of God (Ibid.:33). Amongst them there was a prophet called Joseph whom they killed (al-Shibli 1908:9, 10, 156). God sent against them an army of angels who took possession of the earth after routing the jinn and driving them to the regions of the isolated islands and mountain tops (al-Tabari 1968:84-7).

In their battle against the jinn, the angels took Iblis, who was then a young boy, captive and he grew up with them (Ibid.:87). In

another narrative, Iblīs was said to be the commander of the angels who were sent by God against the rebellious jinn (Ibid.:S4; al-Shiblī 1908: 9-10). Some authorities contend that Iblīs presided over the earth angels who were called jinn (al-Tabarī 1968:86). Still others say that he was the king of the earth and the lower heavens and was from a tribe of angels called jinn because they were the treasurers of al jannah 'paradise' (Ibn al-Athīr 1965:23; al-Shiblī 1908:155). Ibn Abbās offers yet another explanation: Iblīs was from a tribe of the angels called jinn because they were veiled 'mujtannun' from the eyes of the other angels on account of their superiority (Lane 1927:973).

It is also related that before the creation of Adam, the earth was inhabited by Jinn and God sent Iblis to act as their judge. Iblis judged justly for one thousand years and God called him al-hakam 'the wise' which made him proud and haughty. He became so arrogant he created animosity and hatred among his subjects and they fought for two thousand years and shed so much blood their horses were wading in blood. God sent a fire which burned them all. When Iblis saw the punishment that befell his subjects, he climbed to heaven and stayed there with the angels praying earnestly (al-Tabari 1968:88).

Whether Iblis was originally an angel who was sent on a mission to the jinn or whether he was a jinni who was brought up among the angels, he earned a very high status among the angels through earnest prayers and was the most diligent and most knowledgeable of them all (al-Ṭabari 1968:86). At that time his name was al-Ḥārith in Arabic (al-Shiblī 1908:156; al-Tabarī 1968:84) and Azazil in Hebrew (Ibid.:86).

The high status he attained made him conceited and arrogant (Ibid.:85).

When God willed to reveal to the angels the haughtiness and arrogance of Iblis, He decided to create Adam and order the angels, including Iblis, to prostrate themselves before Him (Ibid.:89). God created Adam with His own hands, a great privilege granted by God to Adam so as not to give Iblis any excuse to act arrogantly toward Adam and refuse to prostrate himself before him (Ibid.:93; Ibn al-Athir 1965: 28).

When God decided to create Adam, He sent an angel to fetch Him mud from earth [some say that God sent Iblis to fetch Him the mud (al-Tabari 1968:90)]. The angel took a small amount of mud from every region of the earth and the total sum came out to be of different colors and textures and this is the reason humans are different in color, temperament, and physique (al-Tabari 1968:90-1; Ibn al-Athir 1965:27-8). God moistened this mud until it became firm and cleaved together; this was left until it decomposed and became malodorous; this, in turn, was left until it became clay. God took this with His own hands and with His right hand came the good part of human nature and with His left hand came the bad part of human nature. He rubbed His hands one with the other and mixed the good with the bad wamin thamma yakhruju-l-khabitha min-al-ttaib wal-ttaib min al-khabith and this is the reason good could come from bad and bad from good! (al-Tabari 1968:93). God called him Adam because he was created from adim al-ard 'surface of the earth' (Ibid .: 91). The body of Adam was left lying for forty days or forty years before God breathed spirit

into him (Ibid.:92). Iblīs used to kick Adam's body with his foot and the body made a resonant or hollow sound. Iblīs also used to enter from Adam's rectum and come out of his mouth, then enter from the mouth and come out of the rectum all the time saying, "You are nothing and you were created for nothing; if I am given power over you, I'll destroy you; and if you are given power over me, I'll disobey you" (Ibid.:92; Ibn al-Athīr 1965:28).

When God informed the angels of his intention to create Adam, "I will create a viceregent on earth," they were astonished. thou place therein one who will make mischief therein and shed blood [like the jinn before] whilst we celebrate Thy praises and glorify Thy Holy Name?" And God answered, "I know what ye know not [of Iblis' intention to defy the Lord's commands and act haughtily]" (Quran ii:30; Ibn al-Athir 1965:27; al-Tabari 1968:96). The angels whispered to themselves, "Let our Lord create whatever He wills to create, we will always remain the most honorable and most knowledgeable of all His creatures" (Ibid.:101; Ibn al-Athir 1965:31). But after God blew the spirit into Adam, He commanded all angels to prostrate themselves before Adam. Then they knew that God gave preference to Adam over them (Ibid.: 31; al-Tabari 1968:100-1). The angels whispered to themselves, "Adam might be more honorable than we, but we are more knowlegeable since we were created before him." God taught Adam the name of all things '3allamahu al-asma? kullaha' and commanded him to relate these names to the angels. After listening to Adam, the angels were convinced that he was more knowledgeable than they were (Ibid.: 101-3;

Ibn al-Athīr 1965:31-2; al-Shiblī 1908:11).

When God blew the spirit into the body of Adam, the spirit entered from his head, and every part of the body the spirit penetrated became flesh. When the spirit reached his eyes he saw the fruits of heaven and when the spirit reached his stomach he desired food and he jumped hurriedly to reach for the fruits before the spirit of life penetrated his feet and this is the reason God says in the Quran, "Man was created from haste" (Ibn al-Athīr 1965:29). However, according to al-Ṭabarī (1968:95), when the spirit reached his navel, Adam looked at his body and was fascinated by it and started to get up but could not and hence "man was created from haste."

There are several passages in the Quran that refer to the creation of Adam and God's command to the angels to prostrate themselves before him—Adam, which they all did except Iblīs (Quran ii:34; vii:11-8; xv:26-44; xvii:61-5; xviii:50; xx:116-23; xxxviii:71-85).

Two passages of the Quran (vii:12; xxxviii:76) state that Iblīs refused to prostrate himself before Adam because he felt that he was better than Adam since he was created from fire and Adam was created from mud. As stated before, jinn are created from fire; therefore, Iblīs must be one of the jinn since he also was created from fire. Another Quranic passage explicitly states that Iblīs is one of the jinn: "And when We [Allah] said to the angels, 'Bow down to Adam,' they bowed down except Iblīs; he was one of the jinn and he broke the command of his Lord" (xvii:50). But the word jinn in this passage does not necessarily mean the class of beings who are different from the angels. The main

signification of the word jinn refers to any thing which is invisible and hidden from the senses and since angels are hidden from the senses they could be referred to as jinn (al-Razi 1934-1962 II:213). The Arabs used to apply the term jinn to angels (al-Shiblī 1908:6) and the word jinn could refer to that special class of angels who, unlike the rest of the angels, are created from the fire of scorching wind or are so called because they are veiled from the rest of the angels as discussed above. If Iblis had been an angel, the order to the angels to bow down would not have applied to him, and the word "except" would not have been used in the Quranic passage "and when We [Allah] said to the angels, 'Bow down to Adam,' they bowed down except Iblis; he refused and was proud and was one of those who reject faith" (ii:34). Since it is incorrect to say "All bakers opened except X" if X is a blacksmith, then it is also incorrect to say "All angels bowed down except Iblis" if Iblis is a jinni (al-Shibli 1908:154). Iblis must have been an angel because exception is valid only when referring to those who are members of the class referred to and nobody else (al-Razī 1934-1962 II:213-4).

The argument that the angels are impeccable 'ma3sumun' and that Iblis by refusing the Lord's command sinned and could not be an angel is a weak argument. Harut and Marut, as explained above, are two angels who, for a divine purpose, yielded to temptation and fell from the grace of God (al-Qazwini 184:61-2; al-Shibli 1908:155).

Most theologians, however, insist that Iblis is one of the jinn. The jinn are created from fire (Quran xv:27; lv:15) while hadith

asserts that the angels are created from light (al-Razī 1934-1962 II: 214); therefore, angels and jinn are two species of beings different from and independent of each other -- a fact further confirmed by the Quran "one day He will gather them all together and say to the angels, 'Was it you that these men used to worship?' They [the angels] will say 'Glory be to thee! Thou art our protector, apart from them; nay rather, they were serving the jinn; most of them believed in them'" (xxxiv:40-1). And since Iblis is created from fire (vii:12; xxviii: 76), then he must be one of the jinn and cannot be an angel. The syntax of the Arabic language makes it clear that by the word jinn in the Quranic passage: "They [the angels] bowed down except Iblis; he was one of the jinn" is meant the jinn proper and not a tribe of angels (al-Razī 1934-1962 II:214). Furthermore, Iblīs has progeny (Quran xviii: 50) while the angels, not being male or female (Ibid. liii:27) do not propagate (al-Razī 1934-1962 II:214; al-Shiblī 1908: 154). The exception of Iblis in the Quranic passage "They [the angels] bowed down except Iblis; he refused . . . " (ii:34) and similar passages could be explained by the fact that Iblis was not an angel but lived with the angels after being captured on earth as a young lad by the angels who were sent against the rebellious jinn as was explained above. Linguistically, it is proper to address the majority only while intending to include the minority also; thus, the Lord's command to the angels to prostrate themselves before Adam would include Iblis as well, not because he was one of them but because he was living with them (al-Razī 1934-1962 II:215).

Chapter 7

BELIEF IN JINN AMONG THE PEOPLE OF CENTRAL ARABIA

General Nature of the Jinn

The people of Najd (the Central Province of Saudi Arabia) view the jinn as corporeal beings with corporeal functions; they eat, drink, talk, farm, raise animals, propagate their species, and they are subject to death. They are also social beings who live in tribes and nations with kings and rulers and the members of each group are united by bonds of residence and kinship. They are mortal beings who are created from fire. The fire from which a jinni is created circulates in its veins in place of blood and when it receives a mortal wound the fire issues from its veins and consumes it to ashes. Their principal abode is the underworld where they inhabit seven stages which, in contrast with the seven heavens above, is the structure of the underworld. They also inhabit the chain of mountains called Qaf which are believed to encompass the whole earth. They live in haunts, villages, and towns. Their dens are situated underground in rock crevices and caverns. Properly speaking, they are invisible to men, but their bodies are not phantasms. They are extremely ephemeral and transparent beings who have certain mysterious powers of appearing and disappearing, or temporarily changing their aspect and form. Because of their extreme changeability, they can make themselves visible or invisible as they wish, change from one form into another, and take up their abode wherever they please. Their capability of assuming various shapes and forms is unlimited. Very frequently they appear to humans in the shape of reptiles, birds, animals, or human beings. Nevertheless, no matter what shape or form a jinni might assume, it would always have some subtle difference in appearance or character that could be detected by an experienced and observant human being. For example, its body would not throw a shadow in the sun; one of its feet would always remain a hoof; its eyelids are vertical instead of horizontal, etc.

Jinn are weird and do not go about their daily affairs quite the same way as we humans do. They propagate their species by the male rubbing his left thigh against the left thigh of the female. They speak, but with a lisp which makes their speech sound like whistling, and that is the reason one is not supposed to whistle in the dark lest he summon the jinn. They like to sit in the shadows of moonlight just as men in those of the sunshine. They raise cattle, which they pasture on rocks and stones in mountainous and barren regions where worldly cattle would starve. They feed on discarded bones, and their cattle feed on the manure of worldly cattle. A human is not supposed to gnaw on any bone he has previously laid aside, for it belongs to the jinn, just as one is not supposed to tread on manure, which is the fodder of jinn animals. They are terrified by iron, especially steel, and they despise gun powder, the smell of which drives them away.

The jinn are fond of visiting the surface of the earth. When

they rise from their subterranean dwellings their favorite haunts are high mountains, inaccessible ravines, old cemeteries, deserted buildings, thickets, bushes, abandoned wells, and ruins. Even houses for human habitation abound with jinn, but these jinn are more subdued and less feared. They swarm around the hearth, thresholds, latrines, corners, staircases, doorways, and entrances. It is not safe to tread on ashes and if one sleeps on the doorsteps, entrances, staircases, paths, or trails, the jinn will throw him down and rob him of his senses. One's two guardian angels go with him into all places except the latrine, which is dark and dirty and abounding with evil jinn, and there one is not supposed to stay long or talk lest he expose himself to the attack of the evil jinn. Floors are never swept in the late afternoon or at night for fear of injuring the jinn, who are always lurking around and are most active at dusk and at night. People refrain from sleeping in the late afternoon because they believe that num al-3aser_yijib al-jnun 'late afternoon siesta brings madness.'

Jinn are not tied down to any particular place. They travel great distances in no time, like the sweeping wind. They can pass through walls and they are never hindered by any obstacle. They are connected with uncanny events of every description. Al 3ajaj and al 3asuf 'dust storms and whirlwinds' which glide across the desert raising dust and sand in the form of a pillar of prodigious height are caused by the jinn who ride on them. When the people see a whirlwind or a dust storm they say the jinn are having a wedding. It is believed that if one throws salt in the pillar of a dusty storm the jinn

materialize and become visible. Echoes, mirages, and fog are said to be the works of the jinn because they resemble the jinn in that their presence is felt, yet we cannot pinpoint them or get hold of them. Like the jinn, they are ephemeral and transparent. All sensory perceptions of unexplained origin are said to be the work of the jinn. When radio, telegram, and telephone were first introduced to Arabia, they were thought to be the works of jinn. Cartoons and caricature drawings were thought to be the pictures of jinn. Sponge was thought to be the flesh of jinn goats because one chews on it as one does on meat, but one cannot digest it. The first time I myself saw a man wearing a horror mask, I took him for a jinni.

Although jinn are invisible to us in this world, in the hereafter world we will become invisible to them where we can see them and they cannot see us. Animals can see the jinn even in their invisible state. It is believed that when a cock sees an angel it crows, but when the donkey brays it sees a jinni, or a shaitan is riding on its tail. Jinn dread wolves. If a jinni transforms itself into an animal and is seen by a wolf in this state, it freezes and cannot change back into its invisible state and the wolf eats it. When someone is too bewildered or too confused to take any action regarding a specific dilemma, the folk say of him that he is "like the jinni when it sees the wolf." Muhammad Ibn Li3būn, a folk poet, says in a poem describing the road to his envoys:

In a (vast) gravel plain flat as
 the back of a shield reversed.
There, happy is the jinni on account of
 the missing wolf.

Jinn are always attracted to places and objects which have a stiking appearance or otherwise excite feelings of wonder, enchantment, or awe. Sometimes they steal new-born infants or borrow beautiful and decorative objects to play with. People who are most susceptible to the attacks of jinn are people who have striking or extraordinary appearance or character and people who are going through an extraordinary or transitional stage in their lives such as initiation or an extreme emotional state of anger, fear, or joy.

When people talk about the jinn, they usually refrain from uttering the word "jinn." To mention the jinn by their proper name would be to summon them. Other designatory names are applied, like ahl al-ard 'folk who live underground, 'al-bismallah 'those who fear the name of Allah, 'ash-shyukh 'the chiefs,' etc.

All kinds of mental afflictions such as giddiness, epilepsy, convulsions, and all strange maladies and fits of madness are caused by the jinn. When a person suffers from epilepsy, convulsions and asphyxia, he is called masru3 or mkhashar. If he suffers from a behavioral disorder or behaves in a wierd manner, he is majnun, mhabul, maskun, or mtijannis. An animal who is thought to be a jinni in disguise is mtijannis, and a haunted place is maskun.

Prophylactic Measures Against Jinn

Human beings are surrounded by jinn at all times and at all places. Jinn are always close to us and take a great deal of interest in our dealings. Because of their vulgar love of intruding into human affairs, they are never far away from earthly communities. Besides

the guardian angels, every human being has a jinni as companion. human male has a female jinni companion, qarinah, and the female has a male jinni companion, qarin. Qarin and qarinah probably come from garn 'horn' and convey the idea of one of a pair or a double. Qarin and garinah are also used to mean husband and wife respectively. garin and garinah may become infatuated with their human companion if the companion is outstanding in physical or personal traits. It is against the garin and garinah that one should take a special care because they are whimsical and seem to have a hair-trigger temper. For slight causes they may take lightning offense and bring illness on their human companion, a possibility which is always there since one's jinni companion is, like his shadow, constantly trailing behind him. If enchanted by the human companion, the garin or garinah may enter the companion's body and cause her/him madness. In ordinary circumstances, the jinn only attack persons who hurt them or their children by touching, beating, or treading upon them. There are, however, many rascals among them who are malicious pranksters and may cause trouble with little or no provocation. The Muslim jinn are the least harmful, and when the people talk about "those who live underground," they constantly pray "May Allah make our companion who is of them a believing Muslim."

A jinni attacks a human being either by striking him or by entering into his body through toes, fingers, ears, eyes, or nostrils. Some jinn are libidinous and assume human shape and try to seduce handsome men and beautiful women. A night wayfarer may hear delightful

music and see the flitting shadows of dancing nymphs who try to coax him to join them. Woe to him 'yawailoh' who succumbs to them. A male jinni could have sexual intercourse with a human maiden without violating her virginity. Once a jinni and a human being have sexual intercourse, the human being becomes enchanted with the jinni and cannot resist his/her subsequent allurements and will always prefer the jinni and refuse any human being.

The most adequate way to ward off jinn is to always say "In the name of Allah, the most merciful, the most compassionate; I take refuge in Allah from the rejected Shaītān" at every mishap or at the initiation of every chore. In the dark it is dangerous to throw things at animals or moving objects lest they be jinn. If one does so by accident, he should recite the formula: "In the name of Allah . . . etc." This formula is a constant utterance among the Arabs, especially when the person is afraid of being attacked by the jinn (i.e., when he falls down or trips, passes a haunted ground, treads on fire or manure, etc.).

Of all preventives against jinn, none are considered more efficacious than holy words, in particular certain passages from the Quran. Written charms or amulets are commonly used to ward off the jinn who are exceptionally sensitive to sacred formulas.

Another prophylactic measure against jinn is sacrificial offerings. Usually a sacrifice is made before the digging of a water well commences and another when the well is ready. To appear the jinn a sacrifice is offered upon newly broken fallow, upon the foundation of

a new building, and also when one moves to a new house. To understand this we have to keep in mind that jinn, properly speaking, inhabit the underground, and to dig a well or to break ground is to intrude on jinn territory. Also we have to keep in mind that, although we may not realize or like it, the jinn share everything with us; therefore, it is nice to make a sacrificial offering when one moves to a new habitat since he might be moving with jinn.

When a human is struck by a jinni, the jinni can be induced to leave the victim by reading some passages from the Quran. There are exorcists who can terrify and expel the jinn by incantations and sacred words and exorcistic rituals.

One method of exorcism I am familiar with is to lock up the patient in a dark room with the exorcist, who stuffs the patient's ears, wraps a piece of cloth around his eyes, and tightly tethers his toes and fingers. By doing this, the exorcist imprisons the jinni inside the patient's body and prevents his escape. Then the exorcist starts flogging the patient and fumigating him by forcing smoke into his nostrils. The exorcist insists that this torture is not meant for the patient but for the jinni inside him. The jinni tries to escape but he cannot. At the point when the jinni cannot take any more punishment, he or she starts crying "Let me out, let me out." The exorcist ignores this appeal till the jinni humbly pleads and begs to get out. At this stage, the exorcist starts bargaining with the jinni. "I will let you out on one and only one condition—that you swear that you will come out of this patient here and leave him alone and never

bother him again." After some haggling, the jinni gives several oaths to that effect. Then the exorcist commands the jinni "Come to the forehead." A lump, the size of a small pebble, pops out on the patient's forehead. The exorcist incises the lump and the warm blood trickles on the patient's face which is an indication that the jinni is leaving him for good. One of my informants who is familiar with a different method of exorcism told me that the jinni should exit from the female's vagina or the male's rectum. If the jinni exits from any of the patient's limbs or extremities, that limb or extremity will become paralyzed, and this is the reason the exorcist tethers the patient's toes, fingers, etc.

Beneficial Relations Between Jinn and Humans

The relations between jinn and humans are not always unpleasant. The jinn usually do not hesitate to help the unfortunate and the poor. While they are fond of attacking and insulting the pompous and the greedy, they usually do not bother modest people who are honest and fair in their dealings with other people. The human practices which have reference to dealing with the jinn are not exclusively to keep the jinn at a distance or put them to flight. Some humans have special powers to communicate with the jinn and summon them and command their services.

There are evil jinn who help evil humans to practice witch-craft. A person who wants to summon evil jinn offers them sacrifices and does all sorts of prohibited and perverted practices. He eats his own excrement, drinks his own urine, and dirties his clothes with them.

He puts his right slipper on his left foot and his left slipper on his right foot and wears his clothes with the inside out. He makes ablution with his urine and prays with his face the opposite way from Mecca and commits incest. To summon the jinn, he invokes them by their names and by writing down secret formulas and mysteriously arranged letters, figures, words, and numbers. An apprentice summoner who summons jinn for the first time may become so terrified by their appearance that he forgets the necessary formula to disperse them. In this seance the jinn wait around to be dispersed by the summoner and if he becomes too bewildered to do that, the jinn simply kill him to free themselves of his bond. When somebody is in deep trouble, people say of him, "He summoned the jinn but he does not know how to disperse them." When a summoner summons the jinn, they abandon whatever business they were attending and immediately come to him as they are (i.e., in pajamas, work clothes, with work tools, naked from the bathroom, etc.).

Other people have power over jinn by means of a ring with a special stone they wear around their fingers. When the ring is turned around a jinni appears to carry out the summoner's order. Sulaiman ibn Dawud 'Solomon, Son of David' had a seal ring that came down to him from heaven. On that ring was engraved al-ism al-A3zam 'the most great name [of Allah].' It is partly composed of brass and partly of iron. With the brass he stamped his written commands to the good jinn; with the iron (which they greatly dread) those to the evil jinn 'shayatīn.'

Jinn can also be summoned by music because they adore merry singing and sweet melodies; thus the belief that one is never to whistle lest he summon the jinn.

The Muslim jinn are conjured by writing one of the ninety-nine names of Allah on a paper or writing board. Every name of God has its special servant of the jinn 'Khadim al-ism.' The summoner repeats the name a certain number of times every morning and evening after prayers for a certain number of days. On the last evening, when he is sitting absolutely alone in his dark room burning white benzoin in the firepot on which he is concentrating his whole attention and repeating his incantation and swaying back and forth and to the sides, a jinni appears to him and offers him whatever assistance he requires.

Jinn are summoned to inform about hidden treasures, since they are the guardians of those treasures, ¹ to give clues to lost or stolen objects and to find out the perpetrator of a theft, etc. This is easy for them since they are omnipresent, omnipotent, invisible, travel faster than the wind, and yield to no obstacles. They can see people and watch their every move without being detected by them. If a summoned jinni cannot help his summoner, he appeals to his family or clan for help.

Aside from this beneficial relationship between jinn and humans, there are also reported cases of marriage and companionship

Archaeologists are always accused of digging for hidden treasures the jinn informed them about.

between them. Of humans, the people closest to and most intimate with the jinn are Negroes. Negroes are usually well versed in matters relating to communication with the jinn and they are especially famous for the zar, another and distinctly different way of summoning the jinn with which I am most familiar.

To summon the zar, people squat in two lines facing each other and they start beating the drums and singing special songs with special rhythms. Eventually somebody who possesses a zar gets up and starts dancing between the lines. Then the people singing ask the dancer, "What do the sheikhs want to hear?" (the sheikhs here refers to the dancer's zar-i.e., jinni). The dancer tells them the shelkhs want to hear the song so and so. Each zar has its song by which it is summoned. When the zar comes and enters the dancer's body, the dancer whirls around very fast for a short while until he reaches a momentum. Then he collapses on the dancing floor and starts contorting, writhing, convulsing, panting, gasping and trembling. People keep on singing while one of them massages and strokes the dancer and tries to help him to stand up. At first the dancer dances lying down, then sitting down by swaying or violently and spasmodically spinning and jerking his head through his neck muscles. Finally he gets up and starts dancing up and down, back and forth, and sideways in a violent but very graceful and elegant fashion. While this is going on nobody is supposed to mimic or laugh at the dancer; nobody is supposed to have their slippers or any footwear upside down with the sole facing upward,

and anybody who is <u>junub</u>² must leave the singing circle, since all these things greatly offend the <u>zar</u> and if anybody does them intentionally he will be beaten by the dancer who, while visited by his <u>zar</u>, could see and hear everything and could even smell a <u>junub</u> and could embarrass him in front of everybody.

The dancer starts his performance by tossing his <u>var</u> ring a long distance away from the audience, dances for a while, then sticks his finger in the dancing grounds and brings it back up with the ring around it. He eats red burning coals and converts the resulting charcoal into sweet smelling incense. A dancer may go as far as cutting his abdomen and letting his intestines fall out on the dancing floor. A while later he collects them and puts them back together and sews his abdomen. He may swallow needles and make them come out of his umbilicus. While visited by their <u>var</u>, some can eat any amount of food given to them or can take on any number of people in a fight. They can tell about lost or stolen objects, thieves, murderers, and all matters people want to know about.

One time when a dancer summoned his zar, he asked the audience what they wanted to eat. The audience ordered oranges. The oranges were produced and one of the audience put two of these oranges in his pocket to take to his wife; when he got home, he found nothing in his

²A <u>junub</u> is someone who had sexual intercourse and did not perform the cleansing ablution required by Islam. A person in this state, like a woman during her menstrual period, is in a taboo state.

pocket except donkey dung! Some zars are even homosexual. There is a notorious dancer who, when visited by his zar, takes off his clothes and asks the audience if anyone wants to have sexual intercourse with him. It is extremely offensive and dangerous to mock the zar. It is also dangerous to the dancer if the group quits singing and disperses and leaves him alone before his zar leaves him. Just as every zar has its song by which it is summoned, there is a special song to make it leave, If this is not sung, the zar may never leave the dancer and may hurt him badly or injure him permanently.

A song for invoking the zar of one of my informants starts thus:

They spread me a bed between the moon and Venus.

They sprayed perfumes over me, rose water they sprinkled on me.

The song to make his zar leave starts thus:

They are leaving, they are leaving, may Allah grant them an easy departure. Farewell, Farewell, 0 thou blessed spot.

To explain the symbolism of these simple but extremely beautiful. verses would take several pages.

Some zars are fond of singing and dancing and entertaining people and do not depart for a long time. Some zars are fantastic and give fantastic performances but some are not so fantastic. A person could have from one to seven zars depending on his temperament and personality (how well he can handle them) and how much money he is willing to pay, because zars can be purchased.

Etymologically the word <u>zar</u> comes from <u>zara</u> 'to visit' because one is visited by his jinni. It might, however, be an Arabic loanword derived from the ancient Agao religion of the pagan Kushites of Abyssinia whose sky-god was called <u>Zar</u> (Abdul-Rasoul 1953:87). This word is also used by the Christian Abyssinians to denote evil spirits (Ibid:87). The fact that the <u>zar</u> is associated with Negroes plus the rites associated with the <u>zar</u> (i.e., songs and dances) are, I believe, strong indications that it may have diffused from Africa.

Chapter 8

DISCUSSION

While the angels and human beings, as two independent classes of beings, stand in a binary opposition to each other, the jinn stand in a relation of correlation and opposition to both angels and human beings. Angels and human beings are the complete opposite of each other and have nothing to share in common. Jinn, on the other hand, have some overlapping features they share with angels and some they share with humans.

Unlike humans or jimm, the angels are created from light and reside in the heavens above. They are not social beings because they dedicate their allegiance wholly to God and not to each other. Propagation of species and family unit, the nuclei of social structure, are absent among the angels. Since they are not social, consequently they are not moral beings because morality is a social value and cannot exist without a social context. As a matter of fact, angels are impecable and sanctified from the disturbance of anger, lust, and desire, hence beyond morality.

However, angels share some of their features with jinn, but not with human beings. Both angels and jinn are imperceptible and concealed from our senses. They are capable of changing their forms and can pass through space unhindered.

On the other hand, jinn and humans share some common features.

Both jinn and humans are corporeal beings with corporeal functions.

Both are social beings with moral values.

Although the jinn share some of their features with the angels and some with humans, the nature of jinn is not a combination of angelic nature and human nature. If we keep in mind that the whole can be properly explained only in terms of the complex network of relationships that exist between its parts (Lane 1970:14), then it becomes clear that in order for two wholes to be identical, it is not enough for them to be isomorphic (Kaplan and Manners 1972:165-72). That is to say, to be identical, it is not enough for two wholes to be composed of the same parts, but it is also necessary for the parts of these wholes to be arranged exactly in the same pattern. The way parts relate to each other logically to form an overall system determines the similarity of the wholes (Tbid.:165-72).

The features the jinn share with angels help us to distinguish them from humans while the features they share with humans help us to distinguish them from angels. A linguistic analogy to this situation is the way phonemes are defined. Phonemes are "definable not in terms of the properties common to the class, but rather in terms of the features by which classes contrast with each other" (Ibid.:171). These contrastive features help us to discriminate between sounds and arrange them into classes of phonemes. As a class, jinn resemble the angels in some features and resemble humans in some other features but they are neither angels nor humans. They are an independent class of beings

that occupy an intermediate position between angels and human beings.

By now it should be fairly clear that jinn and human beings both resemble and oppose one another. Their relation of correlation and opposition explains the extensive contact that prevails between them. This relation of correlation and opposition makes them transformable into one another (Levi-Straus 1971).

The relation of opposition helps the native mind to be cognizant of the essential differences between jinn and humans, whereas the relation of correlation makes it easy for the native mind to conceive how a member of one of these two distinct classes could readily be transformed into a member of the other class. This relation of correlation and opposition is not just an abstraction arrived at by the academician, but it is very obvious to the native mind. We have seen how humans who practice communication with the jinn manipulate this relation of correlation and opposition either symbolically or explicitly. The question now is under what circumstances is a member of one of these two distinct classes of beings transformed into the other class?

We have seen that a man who is clever, ingenious, vague, or strange (i.e., ambiguous) in his community is called jinni. We have also seen that people who have a striking appearance or character and people who are experiencing unusual circumstances (i.e., marginals or deviants) are the most susceptible to the attacks of jinn.

On the other hand, when the jinn rise from their subterranean dwellings to visit the surface of the earth they inhabit the areas

that lie beyond the familiar tracks of humans and that are considered by them as awful and dangerous (i.e., ambiguous). When they visit human dwellings they cluster at entrances and hearths, on staircases, and in corners (i.e., marginal places). Jinn are transformed into animals or humans during ambiguous times (i.e., darkness) and at ambiguous places (i.e., places unfamiliar to men). The ambiguous and the marginal are, no doubt, closely related because the marginal is unfamiliar and ambiguous. From this we come to the conclusion that ambiguity and marginality contribute to an unsteady state in which a member of one of the two classes of jinn and human is vulnerable to transformation into the other class. Majnun is not the only word in Arabic to describe a mad person; he is also mkhashar (being shared) and mtijannis (being transformed).

If ambiguity and marginality are the transforming agents, and if someone does not particularly care to be transformed from the class of humans to the class of jinn, then he will strive not to be marginal or ambiguous by conforming to the norms of his group, by being a full participant in his community and by ordering his relations with other people according to very clear and understandable rules. The treatment of a majnum is revealing. Deviants are usually brought back to conformity through reprimands and advice. If this does not help, they

In Arabic the word mtijannis (being transformed) could also mean a naturalized citizen (i.e., one who has been transformed from being a citizen of one country to being a citizen of another).

are usually punished by various means. A mad person, majnun, is a deviant in the extreme. To cure him, sacred words and passages from the Quran are used. This is actually a form of advice. If this does not help, the patient is submitted to an exorcist who treats him by flogging and fumigation. Again this, I think, is actually an extreme punishment for an extreme case of deviance disguised in the form of ritualistic treatment. Moreover, a majnun who wishes to reconform to the socio-cultural norms can do that without feeling bad or guilty about the things he did or said while he was in a state of madness because he himself did not do or say those things—it was the jinni inside of him.

This paper shows that it might be a profitable undertaking to look at oral tradition as a compendium of thought categories, not compartmentalized, but woven together by culture in the web of folk-lore. A specific thought category is not restricted to a specific form or genre of folklore. It is overlapping and recurring (i.e., in myths, legends, tales, proverbs, jokes, memorates, etc.) and it always has a function. I have tried to show that "jinn" is a recurring thought category among the people of Arabia that overlaps various genres of oral tradition and that it has a specific function. It occurs in the Quran, in legends and tales, in proverbs, in personal memorates, etc. Aside from validating the cultural norms and

²Among the Hopi Indians, for example, when a person shows symptoms of mental disorder or emotional instability, it is the duty of his relatives to advise him and symbolically strike him with small juniper twigs (see <u>Sun Chief</u> by Leo W. Simmons).

attitudes, the "jinn" thought category has psychological function which I intentionally tried to make sound different from the traditional psychological explanations of folklore (Bascom 1955). The psychological function of the "jinn" thought category is not merely wish fulfillment, outlet for repression, or escapism on a fantasy level. It has a more positive psychological function, and one that is on a very conscious level for that matter. It has a therapeutic function that, aside from curbing deviance, makes it easy for persons who do deviate to reconform to the socio-cultural norms. People of Arabia never hallucinate; they see and hear jinn who are real beings and notorious for playing sensory tricks on people. Because they are real beings, jinn are easily appeased or warded off. When a person does go mad, there is nothing inherently or intrinsically wrong with him, and when he offends the society he should not feel bad or guilty, because it is not he who is to be blamed for his misconduct but it is the jinni inside him. Because of this a mad person need not feel guilty at all and his madness is not perpetuated by guilt feelings. Besides, the jinni inside him is a real being who can be either induced or forced to leave him alone.

APPENDIX

EIGHT FOLK TALES

1. One time a human farmer was sharecropping with a jinni farmer. They planted wheat. When it was time for harvest, the human asked the jinni, "How do you want to divide the crop?" "It is up to you," answered the jinni. The human said, "Since you live underground, why don't you get what is underground, and since I live above ground, why don't I get what is overground?" The jinni agreed. The human farmer's share was the grain and the straw while the share of the jinui was only the roots. The jinni realized the trick, but it was a division they had both agreed upon and he thought it was inappropriate for him to complain or back out. Instead he decided that he would retaliate next time. When it was summer the human and the jinni again decided to sharecrop. This time they planted onions. When it was harvest time, the jinni addressed the human, "Last time I let you choose; this time you let me choose." The human agreed. The jinni said, "This time I get what is above the ground and you get what is under the ground." The human was much pleased but he tried to hide his pleasure and pretended to be protesting—but, of course, he finally agreed. The jinni realized that he was a loser again. He decided that a person who outsmarted him twice would outsmart him forever. Since then no finni ever shared a crop with any human (al-Juhaiman 1967-1970 II:119-20).

2. Mohammad was an excellent and successful farmer who was respected by some people and envied by others. One time Mohammad noticed that there was a black dog who came to his farm and caused damage to the crops. He tried to drive away the dog but he could not. The dog kept coming back and damaging the crop. Finally Mohammad lost his patience and decided to kill the dog. And he did. Relieved, Mohammad went home and went to sleep. During his sleep, he felt himself sinking underground. He kept sinking from one plane of the earth to the one below it till he reached the seventh and lowest plane. There he found himself surrounded by two guardians who took him to the King of the Jinn. Mohammad was terrified, for this is a strange habitat full of strange looking and weird people. Some are extremely short; some are extremely tall, with long faces, some with crooked faces; some have short rounded faces; some have lower lips hanging down to their bellies; some have the opening of their eyelids vertical, parallel to their nose; some have only one eye in the forehead, etc. The King of the Jinn calmed him down saying, "Don't worry Mohammed; we are Muslims like you. We judge people by the Quran. According to the orders of Allah and the teachings of the Prophet Mohammad, we seek justice. We do not tolerate injustice or trespassing. The black dog you killed was my son. I, myself, could forgive you; however, the rest of the family insists on a trial. I had you brought here to be put on trial, but you can be sure it will be a fair trial."

At the court, the judge asked Mohammad to defend himself.

Mohammad gave a full account of the incident in which he insisted that

he had killed the dog because the dog was bothering him exceedingly and he killed it only after all other attempts to drive it away had failed. Mohammad also insisted that before killing the dog he had addressed it, "I seek refuge in Allah from you and from Satan" several times. Mohammad also asserted that he did say, "In the name of Allah the most merciful and most compassionate" before he killed the dog. The juuge asked Mohammad if he had any witnesses. Mohammad answered that there were no human witnesses around at the time, but that he was sure there must have been some jinn around since jinn are invisible and always roaming around. An announcement was made among the jinn that if anybody had any information about the incident he should come forward and tell the truth. Several witnesses came forth and they all confirmed what Mohammad had said and what he claimed to have done. Mohammad was found not guilty and was immediately released. To get him through the seven planes of the earth, the king gave Mohammad a strong vicious beast and seven pieces of meat, with instructions to give the beast one piece of meat every time it crossed one level. After the fifth plane Mohammad was so happy he gave the beast two pieces of meat. At the sixth level, he realized that he did not have any more meat to get through the seventh level to the overground. Mohammad pleaded with the beast but instead the beast threatened "from 'min zandik willa met,'" So Mohammad your shoulder or you will die was compelled to cut a piece of his shoulder to give to the beast in order to get to the overground (al-Juhaiman 1967-1970 I: 267-75).

3. There were two poor woodcutters who were very close friends. One was quite normal and the other was hunchbacked. They made their living by going into the desert to cut and collect wood and carrying it back on their donkeys to sell in the market. They made an agreement not to work on Fridays. The hunchback grew restless and bored on Fridays and one Friday he decided to go into the desert and cut wood. On the way back to town, the time was late and it was very dark and he was very tired. He did not know where he was but he kept on going. While driving his donkey along he saw a faint light at a distance. He walked to the light until he was very close to it. At first he thought these people must be some Bedouin and he decided to call on them and be their guest. But when he drew closer and closer he saw strange beings singing and dancing. Among them he saw the most beautiful maidens he had ever seen dancing gracefully and most beautifully to the sweetest melodies he had ever heard. He decided to join them after he tied his donkey. They were repeating one verse:

Sunday and Saturday with Thursday.

They kept repeating this one verse until the dancers and the singers grew bored with it and began to lose their enthusiasm, but their poet was confused and could not come up with a new verse. After noticing this the hunchback decided to help and he came up with this new verse:

And Friday is the happy day.

The singers and dancers liked this verse very much and they

all regained their enthusiasm and it was all fun again. The chief decided to reward the poet who had said the last verse and looked for him until he found him—the hunchback. The chief asked the hunchback what he desired for a reward. "Just remove this hunch from by back." "Ask for something else," said the chief. "I desire nothing else," retorted the hunchback. The chief passed his hand over the hunch, seized it, plucked it out, and gently rubbed its place. The woodcutter became straight and normal like any other person and he was extremely happy. The chief then added, "Now we have removed your hunch ask for something else." "Fill my garment with gold," said the woodcutter. They filled his garment with gold, which he loaded on his donkey. He then headed back home after thanking everybody.

The next day at dawn, his friend called on him to go collect wood as usual, but the hunchback excused himself by saying he was not feeling too well. When it was day time, the woodcutter was out in the streets, and everybody was astonished at his sudden and amazing recovery. The woodcutter never told anybody about his encounter with the jirn, but simply claimed he woke up during the second half of the night and while everybody was fast asleep, he earnestly prayed to Allah and begged Him to cure him and Allah had granted his wish.

Later his friend came over to congratulate him and asked how he managed to get his hunch cured. The woodcutter told his friend about his encounter with the jinn and how they cured his hunch, but he did not tell him about the gold. The ex-hunchback begged his friend not to tell anybody about this. He never went back to his

usual woodcutting but he kept on spending from the gold the jinn had given him. His friend asked him how he had amassed all this wealth. At first he was reluctant to tell, but under his friend's insistence he revealed everything. The friend decided to do the same thing. He went into the desert and took the same road the ex-hunchback had taken. When it was pitch dark and when he was extremely tired, he came to the spot where jinn allegedly were. Suddenly he saw a faint light and kept on walking until he reached it. He tied his donkey and joined the group. They were dancing and singing:

Sunday and Saturday with Thursday.

They kept repeating this verse till everybody became tired of repeating it and they began to lose their enthusiasm. The woodcutter decided that that was his chance. He got up and said:

Monday and Tuesday and Wednesday.

The singers tried to sing this new verse but it did not go with the music; the singers became confused, as did the dancers, and everybody was upset. The chief seized the woodcutter and shouted at him, "You fool, you ruined our fun." The woodcutter became extremely frightened; his joints were shaking; he was sweating, and his mouth became dry. He begged forgiveness and mercy, if not for himself at least for the sake of his hunchback friend whom they knew very well. His pleading was of no avail. The chief of the jinn planted the hunch that they had plucked out of the first woodcutter in the back of this woodcutter and they told him to go away.

He went back to town full of shame and feeling as if he were carrying a heavy load. He was so ashamed of his appearance that he imprisoned himself in his house never to come out again. His old faithful friend missed him and went to see him. When he saw what condition he was in, he asked what had happened and was told everything. He consoled his friend and told him not to worry about a thing, promising to take care of him and do everything he could for him. They remained faithful friends (al-Juhaiman 1967-1970 IV:45-53).

4. A man was married to a woman who died after giving birth to an infant. When the infant grew to be a child, his father caught him a bird to play with. The bird turned out to be a jinni who pleaded with the child to let him free and the jinni promised to help the child in times of difficulties. The child let the jinni go.

Later the father married another woman who hated the child and tried every possible way to get rid of him or get him lost. But the child, with the help of the jinni, always managed to counteract his stepmother's tricks and always found his way back to the house.

5. Two people were travelling in the desert on a dark night. There were thick clouds and plenty of thunder and lightning. The travelers saw an ox and seized it, deciding to take it home with them. They were driving it in front of them when one of them noticed during a flash of lightning that the ox was smiling. He immediately knew it was a jinni. He quietly backed up and when he was a little distance

away from his friend he called, "When the lightning flashes, look at the eye of your ox." The man looked at the ox and he, also, noticed that the ox was smiling. He quietly retreated until he caught up with his friend. They went another way and left the ox alone.

- 6. A woodcutter saw a huge hedgehog warming itself in the sun. I'e caught it and put it in his saddle bag intending to roast and eat it. After a while he heard a voice calling "Mansur, Mansur."

 The voice became nearer and clearer. The woodcutter heard the voice of the hedgehog answering, "Mansur is bundled in a saddle bag near the tail of the donkey." The woodcutter threw away the hedgehog and ran.
- 7. In Hayel there is a cave called Ghar Zalma. Zalma was the name of the mother of a man who married an exceedingly beautiful woman. The man lived with his wife, his mother Zalma, and his spinster sister. Every time the man went to his wife's private room, jealousy ate the heart of the mother and the sister. One day the mother decided to kill her son by hurling a big rock over him when he went for a siesta in the shade of the cave. The mother told her daughter about her intentions while the wife was eavesdropping. The wife told her husband about his mother's plot to kill him but he did not believe her and, as usual, went to the cave for his siesta. He was terrified to see his mother hiding behind a big rock waiting for his arrival. But on seeing him coming she ran away to the mountains, where she has since awaited opportunities to assault men who pass by the cave because she became a si31at.

There was a man who carried mail between Najd and Hijaz. He always did his best to keep his schedule regardless of all adverse conditions and he always kept a swift riding camel. One cold dark night he was riding along and all of a sudden he noticed that his camel's steps were getting slow 'bedat dhiluluh tikhit,' as if someone were riding with him. Without turning, he reached back and felt a hairy creature behind him. He was very calm and simply exclaimed, "What an abundant for 'wallah sufin dafi'l" His calmness appalled the si3lat, who in turn exclaimed, "What a perfect mind 'wallah 3aglin waff'!" The man knew the si3lat was going to eat him and began to reflect as to how to get rid of her. Just before dawn he couched his camel and, after dismounting, tethered it 3gal tayyari. He was not exactly sure how to deal with this unwelcome company. He was very cautious in all his moves and did not want to act till the time was right. The si3lat started watching the man and smiling and doing an exact imitation of everything he did. The man built a fire and made bread; then he put some warm butter on the bread to render it soft. He ate some of the bread and the si3lat ate the rest. The man also anointed his parched hands with some butter. The si3lat did the same thing. An idea came to him; he put some more butter on his hands, face, and head and came very close to the fire pretending to warm himself. The hairy si3lat followed the same exact steps. Immediately she caught on fire. The man sprang up, untethered his camel, kicked it with his foot on the side after getting a good grip on the rein and the camel dashed off like a bullet. The si3lat, in flames, ran after

him shouting, "What a prey I caught that got loose from me 'yasiditin sittaha wafkhat minha'!" The si3lat was burning and could not catch up with the mailman. She shouted at him, "If I die I will kill you with one of my bones." Some time later, the mailman was traveling the same road and passed by the spot where the si3lat had burned up. He saw her carcass and, being curious, he dismounted from his camel to examine the carcass closely. With contempt, he spat on the carcass and kicked it with his foot. A tiny bit of bone entered his foot. This tiny bit of bone was the cause of his death a short time later.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Rasoul, Kawthar 1953 Zar in Egypt. <u>In</u> Wiener Völkerkundliche Mitteilungen, 80-9.
- Bascom, W. R.

 1965 Four Functions of Folklore. In the Study of Folklore. Alan
 Dundes, ed. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Beeston, A. F. L.
 1970 The Arabic Language Today. London: Hutchinson University
 Library.
- Cole, Donald
 1973 Personal Communication.
- (al-)Damīrī, Muhammad Ibn Mūsa (14th Century)
 1861 Kitab Hayat al-Hayawan al-Kubra (a book on animal life, in
 two volumes). Cairo, Egypt: mitba3at Muhammad Shahin.
- Encyclopaedia of Islam 1953 H. A. W. Gibb and J. H. Kramers, eds. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- Fischer, A.

 1927 Kahin. In the Encyclopaedia of Islam II, 624-7. London:
 Luzac and Co.
- Howells, William
 1948 The Heathens: Primitive Man and His Religions. Garden City,
 New York: Doubleday and Company, Inc.
- Ibn al-Athir, Izz al-Din (1160-1233) 1965 al-Kamil fi al-Tarikh (a narrative history). I, 23-30. Beirut, Lebanon: dar Sader-dar Beirut.
- Ibn Kathīr, Ismā3il ibn 3umar (14th Century)
 1966 al-Bidayah w-al-Nihayah (narrative history). I, 40-92.
 Beirut, Lebanon: Maktabat al-Ma3ārif.
- (al-)Jahiz, Abī 3uthman 3Umr Ibn Baḥr (776-868)
 1938 Kitab al-Ḥayawan (the book of animals, in seven volumes).
 Cairo, Egypt: Mustafa al-Bābi al-Ḥalabi.
 - 1965 Rasa?il al-Jahiz (essays by al-Jahiz). II, 371-5. Cairo, Egypt: Alkhandgi Bookshop.
- (al-)Juhaiman, Abdulkarim
 1967-1970 Asatir Sha3biyah min Qalb al-Jazīrah al-3Arabīah (folk
 tales from the heart of Arabia, in four volumes). Beirut,
 Lebanon: Dar al-Thaqafah.

- Kaplan, David and Robert A. Manners
 1972 Culture Theory. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall,
 Inc.
- Krenkow, F.

 1927 Sha?ir. In the Encyclopaedia of Islam. IV, 285-6. London:
 Luzac & Co.
- Lane, E. W.
 1927 The Arabian Nights' Entertainments. New York: Tudor Publishing Company.
 - . 1968 Arabic English Lexicon. Beirut, Lebanon: Librairie du Liban.
- Lane, Michael
 1970 Introduction to Structuralism. New York: Basic Books, Inc.
- Levi-Straus, Claude
 1971 The Deduction of the Crane. In Structural Analysis of Oral
 Tradition. P. Maranda and E. K. Maranda, eds. Philadelphia:
 University of Pennsylvania Press.
- MacDonald, O. B.

 1927 Ghul, In the Encyclopaedia of Islam. II, 165-6. London:
 Luzac & Co.
 - 1965 The Religious Attitude and Life in Islam. Beirut, Lebanon: Khayat.
- (al-)Mas3udī, abī Alī ibn al Hussain (10th Century)
 1966a Muruj al-Dhahab (narrative history). II, 289-333. Beirut,
 Lebanon: The University of Lebanon Publication.
 - 1966b Akhbar al-zaman (narrative history). Beirut, Lebanon: Dar al-Andalus.
- Mu3jam Alfaz al-Qur?an (Lexicon of Quranic technical terms, in two volumes)
 - 1970 Majma3 al-Lughah al-3Rabiyah. Cairo, Egypt: al-Hay?ah al-Misriyah al-3ammah l-el-Tiba3ah w-al-Nashr.
- Nicholson, R. A.

 1966 A Literary History of the Arabs. London: Cambridge University Press.
- Nöldeke, Th.

 1955 Ancient Arabs. In Encyclopaedia of Religion and Ethics.

 I, 659-73. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons.

- (al-)Qazwīnī, Zakarīya ibn Muhammad (13th Century)
 1849 3Ajā?ib al-Makhlūqat (a book on cosmology. Von Ferdinand
 Wustenfeld, ed.). Gottingen: verlag der Dieterichschen
 buchhandlung.
- Rappoport, Angelo S.

 1966 Myth and Legend of Ancient Israel. New York: KTAV Publishing
 House, Inc.
- (al-)Razī, Fakhr al-Dīn Muhammad (1149-1210)
 1934-1962 al-Tafsīr al-Kabīr (exegesis of the Quran). I, 76-84;
 II, 213-5; IXX, 168-75; XXX, 148-63. Cairo, Egypt: alMitba3ah al-Bahiyah al-Miṣriyah.
- (al-)Shiblī, Badr al-Dīn 1908 Kitāb Akam al-Murjān fī Ahkam al-Jānn (a book on Jinn). Cairo, Egypt: Mitba3at al-Sa3adah.
- Simmons, Leo W. (ed.)
 1942 Sun Chief. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Smith, W. R.
 1888 Religion of the Semites. London: Adam and Charles Black.
 - 1966 Kinship and Marriage in Early Arabia. The Netherlands: Anthropological Publication.
- (al-)Tabari, abu Ja3far ibn Jarir (838-923) 1968 Tarikh al-Tabari (narrative history). I, 80-105. Cairo, Egypt: dar al-Ma3arif.
- Wehr, Hans
 1971 A Dictionary of Modern Written Arabic. Tthaca, New York:
 Cornell University Press.
- Yver, G.

 1927 Ifrīt. <u>In</u> the Encyclopaedia of Islam II, 455. London:
 Luzac & Co.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abdel-Rasoul, Kawthar 1953 Zar in Egypt. <u>In</u> Wiener Volkerkundliche Mitteilungen, 80-9.
- (al-)Anţākī, Dawūd ibn Umar (16th Century)
 1910 Tazyiīn al-Aswaq Bitafşil Aswaq al-3ushshaq (a book on romance). Cairo, Egypt: al-Miţba3ah al-Azhariyah al-Miṣriyah.
- Arendonk, C. van

 1922 An Initiation Rite of the Sorcerer in Southern Arabia. In
 Browne Festschrift. T. W. Arnold and R. A. Nicholson, eds.
 Cambridge.
- Bascom, W. R.

 1965 Four Functions of Folklore. In the Study of Folklore.

 Alan Dundes, ed. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Beeston, A. F. L.

 1962 An Arabic Hermetic Manuscript. In Bodleian Library Record
 VII, 11-23.
 - 1970 The Arabic Language Today. London: Hutchinson University Library.
- Bellamy, J. A.

 1961 The Kitab Ar-Rumuz of Ibn Abi Sarh. In the Journal of the American Oriental Society LXXXI, 224-46.
- Blackman, W. S.

 1926 The Karin and Karinah. In the Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute LVI, 163-9.
- Bosworth, C. E.

 1963 The Section on Codes and their Decipherment in Qualqashandi's Subh al-a'sha. In Journal of Semitic Studies VIII, 17-33.
- Canaan, T.

 1923 Tasit er-eradjfeh (fear cup). In the Journal of the Palestine Oriental Society III, 122-31.
 - 1936 Arabic Magic Bowls. In the Journal of the Palestine Oriental Society XVI, 79-127.
 - 1937-1938 The Decipherment of Arabic Talismans. In Berytus IV, 69-100; V, 141-51.
- Cole, Donald
 1973 Personal Communication.

- Collante, J. R.
 1936 Jinn among the Moros. In Muslim World XXVI, 240-5.
- (al-)Damīrī, Muhammad Ibn Mūsa (14th Century)
 1861 Kitāb Bayāt al-Ḥayawan al-Kubra (a book on animal life, in
 two volumes). Cairo, Egypt: miṭba3at Muhammad Shāhīn.
- Davies, R. 1927 A System of Sand Divination. In Muslim World XVII, 123-9.
- Dawkins, J. McG.

 1944 The Seal of Solomon. In the Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 145-50.
- Dickson, H. R. P.
 1951 The Arab of the Desert. London: George Allen & Unwin, Ltd.
- Donaldson, B. A.
 1937 The Koran as Magic. In Muslim World XXVII, 254-66.
- Encyclopaedia of Islam
 1953 H. A. W. Gibb and J. H. Kramers, eds. Ithaca, New York:
 Cornell University Press.
- Fischer, A.

 1927 Kahin. In the Encyclopaedia of Islam II, 624-7. London:
 Luzac and Co.
- Franke, E.
 1913 The Zar in Egypt. In Muslim World III, 275-89.
- Friedlaender, I.

 1907 A Muhammedan Book on Augury in Hebrew Characters. In Jewish
 Quarterly Review XIX, 84-103.
- Gordon, D. H.
 1929 The Zar and the Bhut: A Comparison. <u>In Man XXIX</u>, 153-5.
- Guillaume, Alfred 1963 Islam. London: Cassell.
- Hayes, H. E. E.
 1914 Islam and Magic in Egypt. In Muslim World IV, 396-406.
- Hidayet, Hosain, M.
 1932 A Treatise on the Interpretation of Dreams. <u>In</u> Islamic Culture VI, 568-85.

- Hocart, A. M.
 1938 The Mechanism of the Evil Eye. In Folklere XLIX, 156-7.
- Hornblower, G. D.

 1927 Traces of a Ka-Belief in Modern Egypt and Old Arabia. In
 Islamic Culture I, 1,26-30.
- Howells, William
 1948 The Heathens: Primitive Man and His Religions. Garden City,
 New York: Doubleday and Company, Inc.
- Ibn al-Athir, Izz al-Dīn (1160-1233) 1965 al-Kāmil fi al-Tarikh (a narrative history). I, 23-30. Beirut, Lebanon: dar Sader-dar Beirut.
- Ibn al-Nadim, Muhammad ibn Ishaq (10th Century)
 1966 al-Fihrist (a bibliography of Arabic literature). 309-13.
 Beirut, Lebanon: Khayat.
- Ibn Kathir, Ismā3il ibn 3umar (14th Century) 1966 al-Bidayah w-al-Nihayah (narrative history). I, 40-92. Beirut, Lebanon: Maktabat al-Ma3arif.
- Iqbal Ali Shah
 1932 Arab Occult Writers. In Islamic Culture VI, 401-8.
- (al-)Jahiz, Abi Buthman Bumr Ibn Bahr (776-868)
 1938 Kitab al-Hayawan (the book of animals, in seven volumes).
 Cairo, Egypt: Mustafa al-Babi al-Halabi.
 - 1965 Rasa?il al-Jaḥiz (essays by al-Jaḥiz). II, 371-5. Cairo, Egypt: Alkhandgi Bookshop.
- (al-)Juhaiman, Abdulkarim
 1967-1970 Asatir Sha3biyah min Qalb al-Jazirah al-3Arabiah (folk
 tales from the heart of Arabia, in four volumes). Beirut,
 Lebanon: Dar al-Thaqafah.
- Kaplan, David and Robert A. Manners 1972 Culture Theory. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Kinney, M. 1917 Amulets in Egypt. In Muslim World VII, 365-71.
- Krenkow, F.

 1927 Shajir. In the Encyclopaedia of Tslam. IV, 285-6. Leadon:
 Luzac & Co.

- Lane, E. W.
 - 1871 Manners and Customs of the Modern Egyptians. II, 280-90. London: John Murray.
 - 1927 The Arabian Nights' Entertainments. New York: Tudor Publishing Company.
 - 1961 Stories from the Thousand and One Nights. New York: P. F. Collier and Son Corporation.
 - 1968 Arabic English Lexicon. Beirut, Lebanon: Librairie du Liban.
 - no date Selections from the Kuran. London: Frinted for James Madden and Company.
- Lane, Michael
 1970 Introduction to Structuralism. New York: Basic Books, Inc.
- Levi-Straus, Claude
 1955 The Structural Study of Myth. <u>In</u> Journal of American Folklore LXVII, 428-44.
 - 1963 Structural Analysis in Linguistics and in Anthropology. In Structural Anthropology. New York: Basic Books, Inc.
 - 1971 The Deduction of the Crane. In Structural Analysis of Oral Tradition. P. Maranda and E. K. Maranda, eds. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- MacDonald, O. B.

 1912 Description of a Silver Amulet. <u>In</u> Zeitschrift für assyriologie XXVI, 267-9.
 - 1927 Ghul. In the Encyclopaedia of Islam. II, 165-6. London: Luzac & Co.
 - 1965 The Religious Attitude and Life in Islam. Beirut, Lebanon: Khayat.
- Mansur, Abdullah (G. Wyman Bury)
 1911 The Land of UZ. London: Macmillan and Co., Ltd.
- Maranda, Pierre

 1972 Structuralism in Cultural Anthropology. In Annual Review of
 Anthropology I. Palo Alto, California: Annual Reviews, Inc.
- (al-)Mas3udī, abī Alī Ibn al Hussain (10th Century)
 1966a Muruj el-Dhahab (narrative history). II, 289-333. Beirut,
 Lebanon: The University of Lebanon Publication.

- 1966b Akhbar al-zaman (narrative history). Beirut, Lebanon: Dar al-Andalus.
- May, Rollo
 1970 Psychotherapy and the Daimonic. <u>In Myths</u>, Dreams, and Religion. Joseph Campbell, ed. New York: E. P. Dutton and Company, Inc.
- Mu3jam Alfaz al-Qur?an (Lexicon of Quranic technical terms, in two volumes)
 1970 Majma3 al-Lughah al-3Rabiyah. Cairo, Egypt: al-Hay?ah al-

Misriyah al-3ammah l-el-Tiba3ah w-al-Nashr.

- Musil, Alois
 1928 Manners and Customs of the Rwala Bedouins. New York: The
 American Geographical Society.
- Nicholson, R. A.

 1966 A Literary History of the Arabs. London: Cambridge University Press.
- Nöldeke, Th.

 1955 Ancient Arabs. In Encyclopaedia of Religion and Ethics.
 I, 659-73. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons.
- (al-)Nuwairī, Shihab al-Dīn Ahmad (1279-1332) 1923 Nihayat al-?Arab fi Funun al-?Adab (a literary work). I, 128-51. Cairo, Egypt: Mitba3at Dar al-Kutub al-Miṣreyah.
- Nykl, A. R.

 1949 A Shepherd's Amulet. <u>In</u> the Journal of the American Oriental Society LXIX, 34-5.
- Padwick, C. E.

 1923-1925 Notes on the Jinn and the Ghoul in the Feasant Mind of
 Lower Egypt. In the Bulletin of the School of Oriental and
 African Studies III, 421-46.
- Pearson, J. D.
 1958 Index Islamicus. Cambridge, England: W. Heffer & Sons, Ltd.
 - 1962 Index Islamicus; Supplement.
 - 1967 Index Islamicus; Second Supplement.
- Phillott, D. C.

 1906 A Muslim Charm (Arabic) Suspended Over the Outer Door of a
 Dwelling to Ward Off Plague and Other Sicknesses. In The
 Journal of the Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal
 N.S. II, 531-2.

- (al-)Qazwīnī, Zakarīya ibn Muhammad (13th Century)
 1849 3A jā?ib al-Makhluqāt (a book on cosmology. Von Ferdinand
 Wustenfeld, ed.). Gottingen: verlag der Dieterichschen
 buchhandlung.
- Rappoport, Angelo S.
 1966 Myth and Legend of Ancient Israel. New York: KTAV Publishing House, Inc.
- (al-)Razī, Fakhr al-Dīn Muhammad (1149-1210)
 1934-1962 al-Tafsīr al-Kabīr (exegesis of the Quran). I, 76-84;
 II, 213-5; IXX, 168-75; XXX, 148-63. Cairo, Egypt: alMitba3ah al-Bahiyah al-Misriyah.
- Robson, J.

 1929-1930 The Magical Use of the Koran. In Transactions of the Glasgow University Oriental Society, 51-60.
 - 1934 Magic Cures in Popular Islam. In Muslim World XXIV, 33-43.
- (al-)Sarrāj, abī Ja3far ibn Ahmad ibn al-Hussain (11th Century)
 1958 Masari3 al-3Ushshaq (a book on romance). 286-9. Constantinople, Turkey: Mitba3at al-Jawa?ib.
- Sayce, A. H. 1906 Cairene Folklore. In Folklore XVII, 191-200.
 - 1920 Cairene and Upper Egyptian Folklore. <u>In Folklore XXXI</u>, 173-203.
 - 1928 The Folklore of Upper Egypt. In Jubilee Congress of the Folklore Society, 106-11.
- Scholem, G.
 1965 Some Sources of Jewish-Arabic Demonology. <u>In</u> Journal of Jewish Studies XVI, 1-13.
- Serjeant, R. B.

 1949 Two Yemenite Djinn. In the Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies XIII, 4-6.
- (al-)Shiblī, Badr al-Dīn 1908 Kitāb Akām al-Murjān fī Ahkām al-Jānn (a book on Jinn). Cairo, Egypt: Mitba3at al-Sa3ādah.
- Simmons, Leo W. (ed.)
 1942 Sun Chief. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Smith, W. R.
 1888 Religion of the Semites. London: Adam and Charles Black.

- 1966 Kinship and Marriage in Early Arabia. The Netherlands: Anthropological Publication.
- Somogyi, J. de 1940 The Interpretation of Dreams in Ad-Damiri's Hayat al-Hayawan. In The Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1-20.
 - 1958 An Arabic Monograph on the Number Seven. <u>In Islamic Culture XXXII, 245-9</u>.
 - 1958 Magic in ad-Damiri's Hayat Al-hayawan. <u>In</u> Journal of Semitic Studies III, 265-87.
- Spoer, H. H.
 1907 The Powers of Evil in Jerusalem. In Folklore XVII, 53-76.
 - 1935 Arabic Magic Medicinal Bowls. <u>In</u> the Journal of the American Oriental Society LX, 237-56.
 - 1938 Arabic Magic Medicinal Bowls. In the Journal of the American Oriental Society XVII, 366-83.
- Stitt, S. S.

 1906 Notes on Some Maldivian Talisman, as Interpreted by the Shemitic Doctrine of Correspondence. <u>In</u> Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 121-48.
- (al-)Tabari, abu Ja3far ibn Jarir (838-923) 1968 Tarikh al-Tabari (narrative history). I, 80-105. Cairo, Egypt: dar al-Ma3arif.
- Taylor, W. R.
 1935 An Arabic Amulet. In Muslim World XXV, 161-5.
- Thompson, R. C.

 1906 The Folklore of Mossoul. In Proceedings of the Society of
 Biblical Archaeology XXVIII, 76-109.
 - 1908 Semitic Magic: Its Origin and Development. London: Luzac and Company.
- Thorndike, L.

 1927 Alfodhol and Almadel: Hitherto Unnoted Mediaeval Books of
 Magic in Florentine Manuscripts. In Speculum II, 326-31.
 - 1929 Alfodhol de Merengi Again. In Speculum IV, 90.
 - 1945 Alfodhol and Almadel Once More. In Speculum XX, 88-90.

- - 1934 Spirits and Demons in Arabia. In the Journal of The Royal Asiatic Society, 715-27.
 - 1935 The Illustration of the Doctrine of the "Leap" (Shahrastani, Kitab al milal wal mihal, ed. Cureton, p. 39). In The Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 514.
- Wehr, Hans 1971 A Dictionary of Modern Written Arabic. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- Wensinek, A. J.

 1927 Iblis. In the Encyclopæedia of Islam II, 351-2. London:
 Luzac & Co.
- Westermarck, E.
 1968 Ritual and Belief in Morocco I, 262-390. New York: University Books.
- Yellin, D.
 1920 Abracadabra. In Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 597.
- Yver, G.
 1927 Ifrit. In the Encyclopaedia of Islam II, 455. London:
 Luzac & Co.
- Zwemer, S. M.
 1935 A Chinese-Arabic Amulet. In Muslim World XXV, 217-22.